Stephens College Counseling

Clinical Mental Health Counseling Practicum & Internship Handbook



COUN 601: CMHC Practicum

COUN 607: CMHC Internship I

COUN 608: CMHC Internship II

Table of Contents

Student Responsibility Form	
Section I: Introduction	
Program Roles2	
Key Terminology (CACREP, 2024)	
Course Description & CACREP Standards	
Section II: Policies and Procedures5	
Practicum/Internship Fee	
Practicum Readiness & Degree Candidacy5	
Practicum Orientation6	
Background Check6	
Individual Liability Insurance7	
Practicum/Internship Placement Process7	
Practicum/Internship Sites9	1
Stephens College Counseling Center9)
Secondary Site)
Personal Counseling10)
Electronic Mail/Communication Policy10)
Social Media11	
Official Stephens Holiday Schedule11	
Inclement Weather11	
Telehealth Services	
Distance Learning/Telehealth Policies),
Online/Synchronous Courses Expectations12	2
Attending In-Person Course via Zoom12	2
Audio/Video Recording	3
Informed Consent13	3
Security1	4
Telehealth/Zoom1	5
Deleting Recordings1	5
Student Retention/Program Aim	6
Student & Client Privacy/Confidentiality	6
Professional Ethics	7
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)	7
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA)	9
Student Records	9
Retention, Remediation, & Dismissal2	0.
Program Grievance Policy	0
Personal Development Plan2	1
Personal Development Plan (process)2	22
Class Withdrawal	3
Grade Appeals2	23
Program Suspension/Dismissal2	.4
Section III: Roles & Responsibilities2	25
Program Director	5
CMHC Clinical Coordinator2	65
Course Instructor (Faculty Supervisor)26	5
Fieldwork Site Supervisor(s)	/
Practicum/Internship Students28	3
Emergency Procedures29)

Section	IV: Course Requirements	_
	Required Direct, Indirect, Individual/Triadic/Group Supervision Hours3	0
	Academic Performance	1
	Grading Scale	31
	Student Presence: In-Class/On-site/via Telehealth	1
	Group Counseling Requirements/Policy	33
	Individual & Group Supervision	34
	V: Assessment3	
Section	CACREP Standards/Key Performance Indicators	5
	Assessment Levels/Unmet Minimum Thresholds	5
	Student Disposition	35
	Formative & Summative Assessments	6
	VI: Documentation/Records	
Section	Practicum/Internship Records	8
	Location of Practicum & Internship Documentation	8
	Supervision Assist	39
	TherapyNotes	19
	Documentation Submission Process (Students/Site & Faculty Supervisors)	0
Section	VII: Practicum and Internship Documents	12
Section	Affiliation Agreement	18
	Fieldwork Experience Site Supervisor Agreement	52
	Telehealth Consent	55
	Supervision Contract	57
	Holiday & Inclement Weather	59
	Site Supervisor/Instructor (Faculty Supervisor) Comm & Site VisitSummary	60
	Informed Consent	.62
	Honorarium	67
	Attestation	.69
	Stipend Agreement	70
	Site Supervisor & Faculty supervisor/Faculty Supervisor Assessment	.71
	Student Self-Assessment	.82
	Student Sen-Assessment. Student Evaluation of Practicum & Internship Site Supervisor	93
	Student Evaluation of Practicum & Internship Site Supervisor ("Course Instructor")	96
	Student Evaluation of Fracticum-Internship Site	98
	Live Supervision Assessment	.101
	Supplemental Assessment	.10
	Practicum/Internship Placement Process Survey.	.104

Stephens College Counseling Program

Student Responsibility Form

I understand that I am responsible for all information presented in the Clinical Mental Health Counseling Practicum and Internship Manual.

I agree to carefully read the materials in this manual. I will, when necessary, seek additional information or clarification regarding any material in the manual from my course instructor and/or CMHC clinical coordinator. By signing and submitting this document to my practicum or internship course instructor, I attest that I have carefully read, understand, and agree to abide by the policies and procedures described within this manual as well as all program policies and procedures outlined in the Counseling program's Student Handbook.

Student Signature

Date

Date

Printed Name

^{*}Students should retain a copy of this document for their files.

Section I: Introduction

Program Roles

CMHC Clinical Coordinator: Kendra Shoge, Ph.D., LPC-S, RPT

Email: kshoge@stephens.edu

Primary contact for issues/concerns related to practicum/internship sites and students.

Supervision Assist Coordinator: Sarah Irvin, PhD, LPC (MS), NCC

Email: sirvin@stephens.edu

Primary contact for issues/concerns related to Supervision Assist/electronic documentation.

Program Director: Dan Kissinger, PhD, LPC-S

Email: dkissinger@stephens.edu

Primary contact for any issue/concern related to the program, including practicum and internship issues/concerns. For practicum/internship related issues, program director will follow program procedures for resolution of the issue/concern (i.e., referring the issue/concern to the CMHC clinical coordinator and/or Supervision Assist Coordinator).

Key Terminology (CACREP, 2024)

Practicum: a distinctly defined entry-level, supervised fieldwork

experience in which the student develops basic counseling skills and integrates professional knowledge. The practicum is completed prior to

internship.

Internship: a distinctly defined entry-level, post-practicum, supervised fieldwork

experience in which the student refines and enhances basic counseling

or student development knowledge and skills, and integrates

professional knowledge and skills.

Direct Service Supervised use of counseling, consultation, or related professional skills

with actual clients (individuals, couples, families, or groups) for the purpose of fostering social, cognitive, behavioral, and/or affective change. These activities must involve interaction with others and may include: (1) assessment, (2) counseling, (3) psycho-educational

include: (1) assessment, (2) counseling, (3) psycho-e

activities, and (4) consultation.

["Indirect Service"] The following would not be considered direct service: (1) observing

others providing counseling or related services, (2) record keeping, (3) administrative duties, (4) clinical and/or administrative supervision, and

(5) role-plays.

Supervision Group Supervision: A tutorial and mentoring relationship

between a member of the counseling profession and more

than two counseling students.

Individual Supervision: A tutorial and mentoring relationship between a member of the supervision counseling profession and

one counseling student.

Practicum & Internship Manual (v2.0 Sp25)

Live Supervision: Direct observation of the counseling session with In-vivo communication from the supervisor influencing the work of the supervisee during the session.

Triadic Supervision: A tutorial and mentoring relationship between a member of the counseling profession and two counseling students.

Site Supervisor Credentials

Minimum of a master's degree in counseling or related profession; be fully licensed as a professional counselor or closely related profession (i.e., social work, psychology, etc.); minimum of two (2) years of pertinent professional experience in clinical mental health area.

On Site requirement:

Program approved site supervisor(s) must be physically present on-site for student to provide direct client contact services.

Telehealth:

Stephens College counseling students can provide telehealth Counseling services with site approval, but students must conduct all telehealth counseling sessions on-site with site supervisor present onsite.

Course Description & CACREP (2024) Information

COUN 601: Practicum (3 hrs.)

Students will complete 100 hours of counseling field experience in a school or community setting while under supervision by an instructor and an on-site supervisor. A passing grade in this course is a prerequisite to continuation in the program.

COUN 601: Counseling Practicum	2024 CACREP Standard
goal consensus and collaborative decision-making in the counseling process	3.E.12
record-keeping and documentation skills	3.E.16
principles and strategies of caseload management and the referral process to promote independence, optimal wellness, empowerment, and engagement with community resources	3.E.17
intake interview, mental status evaluation, biopsychosocial history, mental health history, and psychological assessment for treatment planning and caseload management	5.C.4
strategies for interfacing with integrated behavioral health-care professionals	5.C.7

COUN 607: Clinical Mental Health Counseling Internship I (3 hrs.)

Continued skill development in the broad range of roles required of the clinical mental health counselor. Students will engage in supervised practice, videotape review and individual feedback at their practice site. Weekly in-class attendance, participation, and completion of course assignments are mandatory. Students will complete 300 hours of experience in a community setting while under supervision by an instructor and an on-site supervisor. Course is repeatable up to one additional semester if making satisfactory progress, (defined as completing a minimum of 150 hours in the current semester and required assignments). May be taken for 1-3 hours; course is repeatable up to 6 credit hours.

COUN 607: CMHC Internship 1	2024 CACREP Standard
the importance of research in advancing the counseling profession, including the use of research to inform counseling practice	3.H.1
strategies to advocate for people with mental, behavioral, and neurodevelopmental conditions	5.C.8
Third-party reimbursement and other practice and management issues in clinical mental health counseling	5.C.9

COUN 608: Clinical Mental Health Counseling Internship II (3 hrs.)

Continued skill development in the broad range of roles required of the clinical mental health counselor. Students will engage in supervised practice, videotape review and individual feedback at their practice site. Weekly in-class attendance, participation, and completion of course assignments are mandatory. Students will complete the final 300 hours of experience in a community setting while under supervision by an instructor and an on-site supervisor. Course is repeatable up to one additional semester if making satisfactory progress, (defined as completing a minimum of 150 hours in the current semester and required assignments). May be taken for 1 or 2 credit hours with approval of program director; course is repeatable up to 6 credit hours.

COUN 608: CMHC Internship 2	CACREP Standards 3.E.13
developmentally relevant and culturally sustaining counseling treatment or intervention plans	3.E.13
techniques and interventions for prevention and treatment of a broad	

Section II: Policies & Procedures

Practicum/Internship Fee

All students enrolled in the Practicum/Internship I/Internship Π sequence are assessed a fee for each course to cover costs associated with site visits and honorariums for course instructors and site supervisors.

Practicum Readiness & Degree Candidacy

Acceptance into the Master of Education in Counseling program is not admission to degree candidacy. Degree candidacy is an assessment process to determine readiness for field placement. Acceptance into degree candidacy reflects the confidence of the College in the student's ability to successfully complete requirements and to success in the counseling profession. The College reserves the right to deny candidacy when deemed appropriate by the Counseling Degree Candidacy Committee.

Students must be accepted into degree candidacy to be granted permission to enroll in practicum (COUN 601/CMHC; COUN 602/SC). The Counseling program's Degree Candidacy Committee (DCC) shall evaluate the student's readiness for degree candidacy. Evaluation strategies may include the student's current academic record and performance, videotape review, faculty and site supervisor assessment of academic/clinical performance, faculty and site supervisor assessment of personal and professional dispositional assessments of students, and student adherence to expected College, Counseling program and Counseling professional conduct and ethical standards (i.e., American Counseling Association and American School Counseling Ethical Standards/Codes of Conduct).

During the semester prior to the student's proposed enrollment in practicum, the DCC will meet formally to review each student's readiness for degree candidacy. Assessment methods for determining degree candidacy status includes but may not be limited to:

- 1. Student completion of the "Student Degree Candidacy Form".
- 2. Faculty review of the student's academic performance and record.
- 3. Faculty review of audio/video recordings in Counseling courses.
- 4. Faculty review of student's disposition and ethical conduct.

Following the DCC's formal review of student applications for degree candidacy, the program director will notify each student individually regarding the outcome of their degree candidacy application. Students who are not approved for degree candidacy may be required to enter a Personal Development Plan (PDP) designed in collaboration with the DCC. Students who do not successfully meet the requirements of their PDP-or receive a second unfavorable evaluation during the term of the PDP, will not be eligible for practicum and may face additional evaluation/disciplinary action, up to and including termination from the program.

Note: Stephens College School of Health Sciences reserves the right to deny candidacy even if deemed appropriate by the DCC.

- . This communication will include the following information.
 - a. status of degree candidacy (i.e., approved/declined)
 - b. if declined, procedures for addressing the reasons for the declination, up to and including the development of a Personal Development Plan
 - c. if approved, the guidelines/requirements for registering for practicum the following semester

Practicum/Internship Orientation

Practicum: Prospective COUN 601: Practicum students are *required_*to attend a formal practicum orientation meeting the semester **prior to** their expected 601 semester. This meeting, led by the CMHC clinical coordinator, provides students with details surrounding practicum requirements, expectations, and application timelines/deadlines. Students who are not present at practicum orientation may forfeit their eligibility for practicum for their expected semester. Finally, practicum students should begin contacting potential sites immediately following the Practicum Orientation meeting.

Internship: The program does not provide a distinct orientation for orientation. Practicum course instructors will highlight upcoming internship expectations and timelines. Further, the CMHC clinical coordinator and Supervision Assist liaison will communicate with current and projected internship students regarding internship requirements via the student's Stephens email address.

Students are encouraged to review the Practicum and Internship *Site List* via the Practicum & Internship Resources link on the program homepage to learn about approved practicum and internship sites. Insights from peers and current site supervisors is also recommended.

The site list is also found in the Counseling Advising Site in Canvas using the following path:

Canvas >>> Counseling Advising Site >>> Practicum & Internship Information | Clinical Mental Health Counseling.>>> site list

*While the site list is continually updated, transitions within sites occur that may alter the contact person or site availability.

Background Check

The Counseling program requires students to successfully complete background checks as part of the admission process and a second background check a minimum of 45 days prior to enrollment in practicum. Students may also be required to undergo a background check/drug screen as a requirement for their employment/placement at practicum/internship site. This process includes:

- 1. Applicants to the Stephens Counseling program must complete a criminal record check through the Family Safety Care Registry (FSCR), which is found under the State of Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services. The Counseling program director will work with the School of Health Sciences executive administrative assistant to verify registration with FSCR. The program director will review and verify all applicants met all FSCR requirements. Of note, the FSCR investigatory process meets statutory requirements and ensures that students have not previously committed violent crimes against persons. It is important to note that results of the criminal background check may result in removal from consideration for program admission.
 - Link to Family Care Safety Registry: FCSR-BSEES (mo.gov)
- 2. Following conferral of degree candidacy, practicum eligible students are required to pass a second formal background check within 45 days of the official start date of their intended practicum semester. This background check is to be conducted through **Castle Branch**, an outside organization respected and used by several Stephens College programs.
- 3. Students will receive an email from Allison Miller, executive administrative assistant to the School of Health Sciences Dean, outlining the application process for the Castlebranch background check.
- 4. Results of the background check will be sent directly to the student and the program director. The program director will review the results with the CMHC or SC clinical coordinators.

- a. If no issues are noted, the clinical coordinator will notify the student that the background check has been successfully completed and the program will register them for practicum.
- b. If a background check reveals a potential concern, the clinical coordinator and program director will consider an appropriate course of action, including a referral to the Program Review Committee for consideration of potential disciplinary action, up to and including termination from the program.
- 5. Based on the results of the criminal background check, outcomes could include but are not limited to:
 - i. Student is ruled eligible for practicum and enrolled by faculty in practicum.
 - ii. Student is ruled ineligible for practicum.
 - iii. Student is required to successfully complete a Personal Development Plan (PDP) in order to be considered for practicum eligibility.
 - iv. Student is dismissed from the Counseling program.

Individual Liability Insurance

Current individual liability insurance is <u>required</u> for all students prior to and during enrollment in practicum and internship courses. Students <u>will not</u> be allowed to enroll or continue in practicum or internship courses until and unless proof of current liability insurance is verified by the program and on-record with the program.

Liability insurance is available through the American Counseling Association and American School Counseling Association (<u>Student Liability Insurance Now Available to ACA Master's Level Students (counseling.org)</u> or through HPSO <u>Malpractice insurance for Healthcare Providers | HPSO. Notably, student members of ACA receive complimentary liability insurance.</u>

Practicum & Internship Placement Process

- 1. Practicum and internship sites are competitive. The program cannot guarantee students will be able to secure a practicum or internship site.
- 2. Faculty offer ongoing support to assist students in identifying practicum and/or internship sites. However, students are responsible for contacting potential sites, setting up interviews, and securing the placement.
- 3. Sites for students in the CMHC program in the form of a "Site List". This list is updated annually and is located on the student's Canvas dashboard in the "Counseling Advising Site" module. And via the Practicum and Internship Resources link on the Counseling program homepage.
 - a. Students who have <u>not</u> secured a site prior to the beginning of their expected practicum/internship semester(s) will <u>not</u> be allowed to enroll in a practicum/internship course for that semester.
 - b. All program-approved practicum and internship sites are found on the **Site List** (Appendix A).
 - i. If a student becomes aware of a potential site not currently on the approved site list, the student should immediately inform the CMHC clinical coordinator.
 - ii. The CMHC clinical coordinator will contact the site and complete an in-person site visit with the site's clinical/administrative personnel to ascertain if the site meets all program requirements for practicum and/or internship.
 - iii. If the CMHC clinical coordinator verifies (i.e., approves) the site, the site will be added to the approved Site List and students can formally apply to the site for practicum and/or internship.

- iv. If the CMHC clinical coordinator does <u>not</u> approve the site, students will <u>not</u> be allowed to use the site for practicum/internship.
- c. While <u>CMHC students are responsible</u> for securing a practicum/internship site, faculty advisors, and especially the CMHC clinical coordinator and program director, should be consulted for assistance when needed.

4. When securing a Practicum/Internship placement site:

- a. Potential practicum/internship students should meet with their faculty advisor and/or CMHC clinical coordinator in advance of their intended practicum semester to begin discussing possible sites.
- b. Whenever possible, the CMHC clinical coordinator will assist students in identifying potential sites and offer guidance/mentorship, yet students are ultimately responsible for contacting practicum/internship sites, securing an interview, and formally accepting or declining any offer from a site.
- c. If you are interviewing at multiple sites, inform other sites of this fact and, if pertinent, note any deadlines you've been given by other sites to finalize your decision.
- d. Do not accept a practicum/internship offer unless you intend to honor your commitment.
 - If an unforeseen situation arises in which you cannot honor your initial commitment, you must inform the appropriate site supervisor and clinical coordinator immediately. You should be professional in all communications with your site supervisor regarding your reason for withdrawing your commitment.
- 5. **Practicum students** should plan to be on-site for a minimum of 10 hours per week, one (1) hour of which must be used for triadic/individual supervision. **Internship students** should plan to be on-site for a minimum of 15-20 hours per week, one (1) hour of which must be used for individual/triadic supervision.
- 6. It is the student's responsibility to communicate their direct/indirect hours to their site supervisor. This should be done promptly when reasonable concerns about completing the required hours exist. Further, students also bear the responsibility of adjusting their personal schedules to complete required hours.
- 7. Practicum and Internships are <u>unpaid</u>. Students are required to inform the clinical coordinator immediately when <u>ANY</u> form of financial assistance is offered by the practicum/internship site. Some off-campus sites may offer limited financial assistance in the form of a stipend. However, <u>ALL</u> stipends must be approved by the CMHC clinical coordinator prior to receiving any funding.
 - a. Practicum/Internship students found to be receiving financial payment outside a clinical coordinator approved stipend may be immediately removed from the practicum/internship course and may face additional disciplinary action from the program up to and including termination from the program.
- 8. Practicum/Internship students may complete hours at their current place of employment under the following guidelines:
 - a. The practicum/internship position and experience is qualitatively different from the student's current paid position.
 - b. The site/activities is/are consistent with the activities of a licensed professional counselor.
 - c. The site and practicum/internship position is verified by the CMHC clinical coordinator.

- 9. Professional/ethical behavior in accordance with current professional counseling ethical codes (ACA) and program expectations is always expected, from initial contact with site to completion of the semester. Remember, many practicum/internship sites find positions upon graduation with their practicum/internship site.
- 10. Practicum/internship students are expected to provide all approved site supervisor(s) with a current copy of the CMHC practicum/internship manual upon request by the site supervisor.
- 11. Practicum/internship students must submit all practicum/internship documentation required by the program via Supervision Assist and by the dates assigned by the Counseling program. Incomplete documentation may result in the student being denied enrollment and/or continuation of the respective practicum/internship course. This includes copy of site supervisor resume & active State license (i.e., LPC, LCSW, LP).
- 12. Practicum & Internship documentation submission process (see p. 40).

Practicum/Internship Sites/Site List

CMHC practicum and internship placement sites are available in public/private facilities and organizations, medical facilities (i.e. Hospitals), non-profit organizations, and higher education student counseling centers. Approved fieldwork sites are listed on the *Counseling Site List* located in Canvas and found via the Practicum & Internship Resources link on the program website. If a student is aware of a potential CMHC practicum/internship site unknown to the program, the student should quickly notify the CMHC clinical coordinator(s). Upon notification, the CMHC clinical coordinator will assess the site's viability as a practicum/internship site and, if approved, will add the site to the official site list.

Stephens College Counseling Center

The Stephens College Counseling Center (SCCC) is the program's dedicated training facility for CMHC students. The CMHC coordinator will work closely with potential practicum/internship students for placement at the SCCC, however:

a. CMHC practicum students are prioritized for SCCC openings. While all efforts will be made to place CMHC practicum/internship students at the SCCC, openings per semester are often influenced by the size of the entering practicum course.

b. Whenever possible, CMHC internship students are placed at the SCCC. When SCCC openings are limited, the program will utilize a random selection process to choose SCCC candidates. Students not selected for the SCCC will need to secure sites in the community.

c. Students who work for Stephens College cannot be placed at the SCCC for practicum or internship.

Secondary Fieldwork Placement Site/Supervisor

A secondary site and/or site supervisor may be permitted within the following parameters:

- The student's secondary site hours/obligations will not interfere with the student's hours/primary obligations to/at their primary site.
- The student has met in-person with the CMHC clinical coordinator to discuss their interest in securing a secondary site.
- The student receives formal written permission from the CMHC clinical coordinator to pursue a secondary site.
- The site supervisor "Honorarium" paid by the program is intended for the primary site supervisor. It is the responsibility of the student to bring this to the attention of the secondary site supervisor.

- Program approval & submission/verification of required documentation, including:
 - o 2nd Site & Site Supervisor = Affiliation Agreement, Site Supervisor Agreement, Supervisor Credentials
 - o 2nd Site Supervisor = Site Supervisor Agreement, Supervisor Credentials

Personal Counseling

The program encourages students to seek personal counseling as a means for personal and professional growth and development. While the Counseling faculty will provide a safe and confidential environment for students to address personal and professional issues impacting their experience and success in the program, ethical standards preclude program faculty from providing personal counseling to degree seeking students (ACA, 2014; F.10.e). Current program students interested in personal counseling should consider the following options:

- a. Counseling students may seek personal counseling at the Stephens College Counseling Center with the licensed counselor contracted through Stephens College. Counseling students are <u>not</u> allowed to be seen for counseling services by Stephens Counseling practicum or internship students placed at the SCCC.
 - a. Students in the CMHC specialization who receive counseling at the SCCC from the licensed clinician contracted by Stephens College will be ineligible for practicum/internship placement at the SCCC if this clinician is the SCCC site supervisor.
 - i. If "a" is true, counseling faculty can help facilitate a referral to a qualified licensed mental health professional upon request from the student.
 - ii. All communication specific to a student's request for assistance with personal counseling will be kept confidential between the student and program director/faculty.
 - b. A list of qualified local licensed counselors and allied professionals is vetted by the program director and updated periodically for students interested in private/off-campus counseling services, with priority given to practitioners offering minimal or sliding scale fees for students. To access the list:
 - i. Canvas >> Counseling Advising Site>> Student Wellness Module>> Personal Counseling
 - c. Students with additional questions regarding personal counseling or who are aware of additional options for counseling services for students should contact Dr. Kissinger at <u>dkissinger@stephens.edu</u>

Electronic Mail/Communication Policy

- a. Practicum/Internship students are required to communicate with the CMHC clinical coordinator, course instructor, and site supervisor only through the student's official Stephens College email addresses.
- b. Practicum/Internship course instructor(s) will communicate with site supervisors and students <u>only</u> through their official Stephens College email addresses.
- c. Practicum/Internship students can utilize their practicum/internship organization's official email systems to communicate with their client's and/or personnel/site supervisor(s) under the following conditions:
 - Site supervisor has provided the CMHC clinical coordinator and practicum/internship course instructor with a written statement verifying the student's need to utilize organization's secure, private email system.
 - Site supervisor provides the CMHC clinical coordinator and practicum/internship course instructor with the site's guidelines the students are expected to follow when using the site's communication system.

- d. Practicum/Internship course instructors will schedule a minimum of one (1) in-person site visit per semester at each site.
- e. Additionally, practicum/internship course instructors will communicate regularly with the site supervisors via phone calls or email to monitor student behavior and performance.
- f. Practicum/internship site supervisors and course instructors are expected to respond to email/telephone communications from each other within 48 hours.

Social Media

Practicum/internship students are required to adhere to the current ACA Ethical Code standards related to the ethical responsibilities surrounding social media (H.6.a-d).

Official Stephens Holiday Schedule

- a. Students must be aware of potential discrepancies between the Stephens College Academic Calendar and their site's official schedule and operating hours.
- b. Practicum/internship students are <u>not</u> required to be present at their site during Stephens College official holidays. This is based on the philosophy that Stephens College is on an official holiday, and you are an enrolled student in the Stephens Counseling program. Students should communicate this clearly with their site supervisors and address potential conflicts with the site supervisor at the start of the semester.
 - a. Students <u>are allowed</u> to be present at their site during official Stephens holidays and complete direct/indirect service hours when, and only when, the student has submitted the *Holiday & Inclement Weather* document via Supervision Assist. This document must have ALL dates specifically identified and be on file prior to the official holiday.

Inclement Weather

Students are expected to attend all classes in-person unless Stephens College has officially cancelled class due to inclement weather (or other official reason).

- a. Official notice of inclement weather class cancellations will be sent by Stephens College President Lynch via the Stephens College email system and will be posted on the Stephens College homepage.
- b. When on-campus classes are cancelled due to inclement weather, practicum/internship instructors are expected to move the course to an online/synchronous and communicate this to students. Practicum students are expected to attend via zoom.

Telehealth Services

Students are required to demonstrate basic competencies in the efficient and ethical/legal use of telehealth services. General telehealth policies will be discussed during *new student orientation* and in relation to class activities and assignments in several courses. However, **formal telehealth training will be provided by faculty during practicum orientation**. Students must demonstrate competency in the procedural, ethical, and legal aspects of telehealth prior to matriculating to their practicum clinical site. Further, students in all CMHC and SC practicum/internship courses must adhere to the program's telehealth policies for practicum/internship found in their respective practicum and internship course syllabi and CMHC and SC Practicum and Internship Manuals, including the submission of a completed "Telehealth Consent" document.

Distance Learning in Practicum/Internship Courses

Practicum and internship courses delivered in-person and on-campus, although student's may zoom in to class with course instructor approval. To zoom in, students must be in a secure room to ensure client confidentiality. The Counseling program's rules and expectations regarding student conduct apply to online behavior as well as in-person or classroom behavior. Students are expected to be professional and respectful when attending class on Zoom, including the "chat" feature or other written comments. If you have unstable internet access, you should contact the IT department at helpdesk@stephens.edu to see if they may have options to help you.

Misuse of the policies as noted below subject the student to potential class participation point reductions as deemed appropriate by the course instructor. Verified violation or exploitation of these policies may also lead to additional disciplinary action as deemed suitable by the Counseling faculty/course instructor as noted in the Student Handbook and/or Practicum/Internship manual.

Online/Synchronous Courses Expectations

For the duration of any digital/online synchronous course, the following items apply:

- 1. Student should be seated in a location/manner appropriate for learning, such as:
 - a. Seated at a table or desk that is appropriate for learning/engaging in class discussion.
 - Note: Lying down on the couch or your bed is not appropriate.
 - b. Always prioritize confidentiality.
 - c. Create a distraction free (or as close to it as possible) environment.
- 2. Video camera is on/student seated in front of camera during class unless permission is granted by instructor to turn camera off.
- 3. Audio/microphone is on when speaking or engaged in required activity.
- 4. Audio/microphone is off when not speaking or engaged in required class activity.
- 5. Online/zoom backgrounds are conducive to learning/not distracting. You may be asked to change your background to accommodate this expectation.
- 6. All comments offered during class, including "Chat" comments, are professional and align with the course content/activity. Disrespectful or hate speech, in verbal or written form, will not be tolerated.
 - a. The course instructor reserves the right to turn off the chat feature if they perceive chat content to be inappropriate.

Attending In-Person Course via Zoom

- 1. Attending class via zoom when class meets in-person is permissible under the following circumstances:
 - a. Cancellation of class due to inclement weather or other scenario by Stephens College President Lynch or other senior administration.
 - i. In cases of inclement weather cancellation, course instructor will send zoom link for course via Stephens College email. Attendance via zoom is expected.
 - b. Student illness: Student must communicate with course instructor prior to the course and request permission to attend via zoom. NOTE: The instructor is not required to allow the student to attend via zoom.
 - c. Course instructors can require the student to provide documentation of illness from a physician:
 - i. To receive a verified absence, the following documentation must be provided within 1 week of the missed class period:
 - Physician signature, date, and statement from physician that in-class attendance is/was

not appropriate for health reason(s).

ii. If no documentation is received by 1 week after the missed course, the course is recorded as an unexcused absence.

d. Family/Personal Emergency

- i. Course instructors recognize that "life happens". In the event of a personal emergency or event that bars the student from attending an in-class course, a student may make a request to their instructor to attend that week's in-class course via zoom. Again, the instructor has discretion as to whether to allow the request. If the illness is related to or potentially related to Covid-19, the instructor will be guided by the current Stephens College Covid policy. Participation points will be deducted consistent with "e" below.
- ii. To receive a *verified absence* due to a personal emergency/event, the course instructor has the right to require documentation from the student verifying the absence within 1 week of the missed class period. These documents may include but are not limited to:
 - 1. If requested documentation is not submitted to the course instructor within 1 week of the missed class, the absence is recorded as *unexcused*.
- 2. Create/be seated in a location/manner appropriate for learning.
 - a. Seated at a table or desk as appropriate for optimal learning/engagement.
 - b. Lying on the couch or your bed is not appropriate.
 - c. Distraction free (or as close to it as possible) environment that prioritizes confidentiality.
- 3. Video camera is on/student seated in front of camera during class unless permission is granted by instructor to turn camera off or be "off-camera".
- 4. Audio/microphone is on when speaking or engaged in required activity.
- 5. Audio/microphone is off when not speaking or engaged in required class activity.
- 6. Online/zoom backgrounds are conducive to learning/not distracting.
- 7. All comments offered during class, including "Chat" comments, are professional and align with the course content/activity. Disrespectful or hate speech, in verbal or written form, will not be tolerated.
 - a. Course instructor has the right to turn off the chat feature if content is inappropriate.

Audio/Video Recording

Audio/Video Recording: Informed Consent

- Practicum/Internship students must have written consent prior to audio and/or video record a client. Verbal consent from a client or their parent/legal guardian is not sufficient to meet with and/or record a client during practicum/internship.
- Practicum/Internship students must use the program specific informed consent document and ensure they adhere to the appropriate consent parameters of the client and/or parent/legal guardian (i.e., no recording, audio only, audio/video).
 - **If a fieldwork site utilizes their own informed consent document, the student should promptly notify the CMHC clinical coordinator. The clinical coordinator will consult with the fieldwork site supervisor and then make a determination as to the specific informed consent document(s) to be used by the student.
 - **Until and unless the CMHC clinical coordinator provides written permission for the student to use the fieldwork site's informed consent document, the student is required, minimally, to utilize the program's informed consent document. In some cases, students may be required to use both the fieldwork site and program informed consent documents.

- If a client or their parent/guardian provides written consent to be recorded, the program's informed consent document must be signed and dated <u>prior to</u> the start of the recording.
- Students should make and document the following points to prospective (and current) clients and/or or their parent(s)/legal guardian(s):

1. Audio/video recording is voluntary.

- 2. In all recordings, the focus will be on the counselor-in-training (student); the client is NOT required to be visible on camera at any time.
- 3. Students must have client/parent/guardian consent to audio and/or video recording
- 4. Client/parent/guardian may request at any time prior to or during a session that the audio/video recording be stopped.

Client Recordings/Security

- Audio/video recording of direct service hours (i.e., individual counseling, intake sessions, group counseling) with clients is an expected and essential component of the practicum and internship courses.
- Students must record (audio/video) all direct service activities using the HIPAA-compliant Zoom feature in their individual, password-protected Supervision Assist account.
 - If a fieldwork site utilizes a different recording platform from Supervision Assist, the student must notify the CMHC clinical coordinator <u>prior to</u> using the recording platform. Following a formal consultation with the site supervisor, the CMHC clinical coordinator will make a final determination to approve or decline the use of the site's alternative recording platform.
- Students log-in/review recorded client activities in Supervision Assist only after ensuring client privacy/confidentiality is assured (i.e., at home, fieldwork site, classroom/campus)-and log-out immediately following completing of activities.
- Students must log-out of Supervision Assist at the conclusion of each recorded session and log back in at the start of the next session.
- Students must confirm that they have logged out of Supervision Assist <u>prior to</u> exiting their fieldwork site-and any other setting.
- While practicum/internship students are encouraged to audio/video record all direct service hour sessions, students are required to record a minimum of three (3) direct service sessions during each practicum and internship course. These sessions form the basis for the (minimum) three (3) required case presentation assignments due in the practicum and internship courses, respectively.
- Practicum/Internship students must provide access to all direct service activities recorded and saved in Supervision Assist to the a) course instructor, and b) fieldwork site supervisor.

Audio/Video Recording: Classroom/Site Supervision/Telehealth

In addition to program policies and procedures found in this manual and the student handbook, practicum and internship students are expected to adhere to current American Counseling Association Ethical Code, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), and the State of Missouri's Committee for Professional Counselors.

- Students may not record or provide face-to-face or telehealth direct service activities with clients located outside of the State of Missouri.
- Practicum/Internship course instructors are required to view a minimum of 3 sessions of each student during the semester.
- Fieldwork site supervisors are required to observe a minimum of three (3) supervisee sessions during the semester.
- If audio/video recording is not allowed at the fieldwork site, the site supervisor must provide live supervision to the student a minimum of three (3) times over the course of the semester.
- For each live supervision session, the fieldwork site supervisor must complete and submit a *Live Supervision* session document. This document is in Supervision Assist.

Deleting Recordings

- Following a formal case presentation or session review with site supervisor and/or course instructor, the student should delete the session from their Supervision Assist account.
- Note: At the conclusion of each semester, Supervision Assist will delete all recorded sessions from the practicum/internship student's account.

Student Retention

The retainment of all admitted students through degree completion is the ongoing aim of the faculty. Addressing this aim is the responsibility of the program's **Admissions**, **Recruitment**, **and Retainment Committee** (ARRC). Comprised of core faculty, retainment efforts include but are not limited to:

- a. Design, implement, and assess program policies and procedures that facilitate the academic, professional, and personal well-being of students.
- b. Design and consistently provide/promote professional development activities, creative programming, and opportunities for students to engage in program service/leadership to ensure they have a "voice" in the program.
- c. Create and maintain effective program delivery systems that are equitable, inclusive, challenging, and maximize student learning and success.
- d. Hiring and retention of core and adjunct faculty who are responsive to student needs, including timely and accurate academic advising.
- e. Provide opportunities for students to have Activities may include but are not limited to academic advising, mentoring/advocating for students/profession.
- f. Utilize systemic assessment procedures to secure outcome data for use with continual program improvement surrounding student retention.

Student and Client Privacy & Confidentiality

The Counseling program requires all individuals affiliated with client access and contact during the counseling program to follow all ethical and legal mandates specific to client privacy and confidentiality. This includes but may not be limited to Stephens College counseling students, faculty, and program approved site supervisors/administrators. Minimally, these individuals are expected to understand and follow the guidelines of the current American Counseling Association (ACA) Code of Ethics, Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) regarding the privacy and confidentiality of all protected health information of clients.

- a. All required practicum and internship documentation, including student, course instructor, and site supervisor assessments, are available to be completed in the student's Supervision Assist account. All materials that do not contain protected client health information may be downloaded by students for their own records.
- b. Client records from practicum and internship courses (i.e., Informed consent) submitted to the practicum/internship course instructor in hardcopy form are kept in the student's clinical file and stored in a secure/locked file cabinet in a secure/locked location. Counseling faculty only are provided access to the secure file room/cabinet.
- c. Client records completed or submitted in hardcopy form by clinicians, site supervisor, or practicum/internship students at the Stephens College Counseling Center are kept in client files and stored in a secure/locked file cabinet in a secure/locked location at the Stephens College Counseling Center. The clinic supervisor, current practicum/internship students, CMHC clinical coordinator, and program director only are provided keys to access the secure file room/cabinet. At the end of each semester, the site supervisor and students are required to return their keys to facilities unless permission to keep them is provided by the CMHC clinical coordinator in consultation with the program director.
 - a. TherapyNotes, the online documentation system used at the Stephens College Counseling Center, is HIPAA compliant. Students will be provided a TherapyNotes subscription during their time at the SCCC and are expected to adhere to all FERPA/HIPAA/ACA Code of Ethics requirements pertaining to the ethical and legal mandates surrounding client care/privacy and confidentiality/record keeping.
- d. Client sessions recorded with client and/or parental/legal guardian consent during practicum/ internship are recorded via the student's Supervision Assist (SA) account using SA's HIPAA compliant zoom feature. Students may provide access to recorded client sessions <u>only</u> to the student's approved course instructor and site supervisor through course instructor/site supervisor's dedicated Supervision Assist accounts.
 - a. Student classroom presentations of recorded client sessions can be shown in practicum/internship courses only. Students should ensure no individuals outside of the course instructor/students are able to hear or view the recorded presentations.
- e. Following final grade submission at the end of each semester, all recorded client sessions are deleted from student, course instructor, and site supervisor Supervision Assist accounts.
- f. FERPA and HIPAA guidelines are found in the *Student Handbook* and again in the *Practicum and Internship Manual*. Both documents are available on the program website and in Canvas in the Counseling Advising Site accessible to all students and faculty. The current ethical standards of the American Counseling Association and American School Counselor Association are posted on the program's website and in the *Counseling Ethical Codes* module on the Counseling Advising Site available to all students.
 - a. Students are required to complete and submit a *Student Responsibility Form* attesting that they understand and accept responsibility for all information in the *Student Handbook* and Practicum and Internship Manual, respectively, which includes FERPA/HIPAA

guidelines. A hard copy of each of these documents will be kept in the student's clinical file.

g. During the required practicum orientation:

a. FERPA and HIPAA requirements are reviewed.

- b. Students are provided the link to the required HIPAA training link. Students are required to provide documentation of successful completion of the HIPAA training to be enrolled in practicum. A copy of this document will be uploaded in the student's Supervision Assist account.
- h. FERPA, HIPAA, and ACA Ethical Standards policies regarding privacy and confidentiality are reviewed during orientation at the Stephens College Counseling Center.

Professional Ethics

American Counseling Association Code of Ethics (2014)

Section B: Confidentiality & Privacy (pp. 6-8)

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)

Stephens College complies with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, as amended (FERPA), designed to protect student privacy and to ensure the accuracy of educational records.

Under FERPA, eligible students have certain rights with respect to their education records. (As FERPA relates to Stephens College, an "eligible student" is a student who is 18 years of age or older or who attends a postsecondary institution.) These rights include:

- 1. The right to inspect and review their education records within 45 days after the day Stephens College receives a request for access. A student should submit to the Office of the Registrar (LRW 248) a written request that identifies the record(s) the student wishes to inspect. The Registrar will make arrangements for access and notify the student of the time and place where the records may be inspected. If the requested records are not maintained by the Registrar's Office, the Registrar or her designee shall advise the student of the correct official to whom the request should be addressed.
- 2. The right to request the amendment of the student's education records that the student believes is inaccurate, misleading, or otherwise in violation of the student's privacy rights under FERPA. A student who wishes to ask Stephens College to amend a record should write the Registrar (or whatever school official is responsible for the record, as indicated by the Office of the Registrar) to clearly identify the part of the record the student wants changed and specify why it should be changed.
 - If Stephens College decides not to amend the record as requested, the College will notify the student in writing of the decision and the student's right to a hearing regarding the request for amendment. Additional information regarding the hearing procedures will be provided to the student when notified of the right to a hearing.
- 3. The right to provide written consent before the College discloses personally identifiable information (PII) from the student's education records, except to the extent that FERPA authorizes disclosure without consent.

A postsecondary institution may disclose Personally Identifiable Information from the education records without obtaining prior written consent of the student:

- To other school officials, including faculty, within the College whom the College has determined to have legitimate educational interests. A school official is a person employed by Stephens College in an administrative, supervisory, academic, research or support staff position (including law enforcement unit personnel and health staff); a person serving on the Board of Trustees; or a student serving on an official committee, such as a disciplinary or grievance committee. A school official also may include a volunteer or contractor outside of the College who performs an institutional service or function for which the school would otherwise use its own employees and who is under the direct control of the school with respect to the use and maintenance of PII from education records, such as an attorney, auditor or collection agent or a student volunteer to assist another school official in performing his or her tasks. A school official has a legitimate educational interest if the official needs to review an education record in order to fulfill his or her professional responsibilities for Stephens College.
- To officials of another educational institution where the student seeks or intends to enroll, or where the student is already enrolled if the disclosure is for purposes related to the student's enrollment or transfer, subject to the requirements of §99.34. (§99.31(a)(2))
- O To a victim of an alleged perpetrator of a crime of violence or a non-forcible sex offense, subject to the requirements of §99.39. The disclosure may only include the final results of the disciplinary proceeding with respect to that alleged crime or offense, regardless of the finding. (§99.31(a)(13))
- To the general public, the final results of a disciplinary proceeding, subject to the requirements of §99.39, if the school determines the student is an alleged perpetrator of a crime of violence or non-forcible sex offense and the student has committed a violation of the College's rules or policies with respect to the allegation made against him or her. (§99.31(a)(14))
- o To parents of a student regarding the student's violation of any Federal, State, or local law, or of any rule or policy of the College, governing the use or possession of alcohol or a controlled substance if the College determines the student committed a disciplinary violation and the student is under the age of 21. (§99.31(a)(15))
- 4. The right to withhold the disclosure of "Directory Information." FERPA allows Stephens College to disclose appropriately designated "directory information" upon request without a student's written consent. Directory information is information that is generally not considered harmful or an invasion of privacy if released, and includes:
 - A student's name, address, telephone number, email address;
 - A student's date and place of birth, dates of attendance and grade level;
 - A student's major field of study, most recent educational agency or institution attended and degrees, honors and awards received;
 - A student's photograph when the student is participating in officially recognized College activities and athletics;
 - A student's weight and height as a member of an athletic team;
 - A student's ID number, user ID or other personal identifier used to communicate in electronic systems that cannot be used to access education records without a PIN, password, etc. (a student's SSN cannot be used for this purpose).

Students who wish to withhold directory information should contact the Office of the Registrar (LRW 248; 573-876-7277). Stephens College assumes no liability for honoring a student directive that Directory Information be withheld.

5. The right to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning alleged failures by Stephens College to comply with the requirements of FERPA. The name and address of the Office that administers FERPA is:

Family Policy Compliance Office U.S. Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20202

Except for disclosures to school officials, disclosures related to some judicial orders or lawfully issued subpoenas, disclosures of directory information, and disclosures to the student, §99.32 of FERPA regulations requires the institution to record the disclosure. Eligible students have a right to inspect and review the record of disclosures.

Questions about FERPA and student records may be directed to the Office of the Registrar (573-876-7277) or to the Office of the Vice President for Academic Affairs (573-876-7213). Students who wish to allow parents or others who would not otherwise be allowed under FERPA to review their educational records should visit the Office of the Registrar (LRW 248) to sign the appropriate authorization form.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA)

Medical ethics forbid violation of patient confidentiality. Students must always be sensitive to this issue. Any discussion of a client's diagnosis, care, and condition should be conducted with the utmost discretion and always with client privacy in mind. All current HIPAA guidelines must be followed.

Students must complete a program approved HIPAA training prior to beginning their practicum course (COUN 601/CMHC; COUN 602/SC). The CMHC and SC clinical coordinator, respectively, will provide prospective practicum students the link to the HIPAA training during practicum orientation. Students must provide evidence of their successful completion of the HIPAA training to their respective clinical coordinator prior to being enrolled in their practicum course. This document will be uploaded in the student's Supervision Assist account along with other required practicum documentation.

Student Records

The counseling program retains hard copies of student records, including practicum and internship documentation, through the Fall 2023 semester. Beginning Spring, 2024, all practicum and internship documentation is retained electronically through Supervision Assist. Exceptions to this may include but are not limited to documentation related to student retention, remediation, and dismissal, with all student records stored in a secure filing cabinet housed in a secure room that is accessible only to the program director and core faculty.

Student records will be digitized upon graduation or termination from the program. However, the program cannot guarantee that student documents requested after the 7-year period will be available. Therefore, students are strongly encouraged to maintain both electronic and hard copy records of <u>ALL</u> documents created prior to-and especially during-their tenure in the program. This is especially important for all practicum and internship documents given state counseling licensure boards are likely to have distinct policies, procedures, and requirements.

Retention, Remediation, & Dismissal

Program Grievance Policy

The Counseling faculty firmly believes that most problems/concerns occurring within the program can and should be resolved in a timely, professional, and ethical manner. Thus, the Counseling program has developed the following process for addressing or responding to scenarios within the program deemed by one or more parties to be potentially harmful to student success and/or wellbeing. If a student encounters a situation that is not listed here, or is unclear on how to proceed, the student should contact the program director (dkissinger@stephens.edu) for directions on how to proceed. In all cases, the aim and expectation is that, at each stage, all parties will exert maximum effort to resolve the issue/concern in a timely, professional, and ethical manner. As can be seen in the examples below, students, faculty, and site supervisors have a process that should be followed. If uncertain of the appropriate path to follow, DO NOT proceed until you have communicated with your advisor and/or program director for direction.

Non-Practicum or Internship Course Issues

Student issue/concern with fellow counseling student

 Student>>student>>Advisor>>Program Director>Program Review Committee>> Graduate Council (Final Decision)

Student issue/concern with a course instructor (core or adjunct)

 Student>>Course instructor>>Advisor>>Program Director>Program Review Committee>> Graduate Council (Final Decision)

Practicum & Internship-Based Issues

Student issue/concern with site-supervisor

 Student >>site-supervisor>>course instructor>>clinical coordinator>>program director>>program review committee>>PDP/program review committee>>graduate council (final decision)

Student issue/concern with course instructor

 Student>>course instructor>>clinical coordinator>>program director>>program review committee>>Graduate Council (Final Decision)

Site-supervisor issue/concern with student

 Site-supervisor>>student/supervisee>>course instructor>>clinical coordinator>>program director>>Program Review Committee>>PDP/program review committee>>graduate council (final)

Site-supervisor issue/concern with course instructor

 Site-supervisor>>course instructor>>clinical coordinator>>program director>>program review committee>>Graduate Council (Final Decision)

Course instructor issue/concern with student

 Course instructor>>student>>clinical coordinator>>program director>>program review committee>>Graduate Council (Final Decision)

Course instructor issue/concern with site-supervisor

Course instructor>>site supervisor>>clinical coordinator>>program director>>program review committee>>Graduate Council (Final Decision)

The process below further details how to address a problem/concern between a course instructor and a practicum/internship student.

Course Instructor Issue or Concern w/Student

- 1. Upon observation of concern, the course instructor will attempt to resolve the concern directly with the student. All discussions with the student-along with any suggested interventions and student responses- are to be documented by the course instructor and provided to the clinical coordinator and placed in the student's internship/clinical file.
 - Note: Faculty may attempt more than one intervention prior to engaging step 2.
 - Student(s) and course instructor documentation should be solicited and documented.
- 2. If the intervention(s) above is/are unsuccessful, the course instructor may refer the situation to the CMHC/SC clinical coordinator and/or Program Review Committee for assistance in resolving the student problem/concern**.
 - **See Personal Development Plan and Personal Development Plan: Process
- 3. If sent to the CMHC clinical coordinator, the coordinator will review all available documents submitted by the student and course instructor and meet with the student to process the concern. Depending on the situation, the CMHC clinical coordinator may meet with the course instructor and student individually or together. If the problem/concern is not resolved at the CMHC clinical coordinator level, the CMHC clinical coordinator refers the problem/concern to the program director or the Professional Review Committee.
 - **See Personal Development Plan and Personal Development Plan: Process
- 4. If sent to the program director, the director will review all documents submitted by the student, course instructor, and clinical coordinator. Depending on the situation, the program director may meet with one or all relevant parties. If the problem/concern is not resolved at the program director level, or the program director deems it necessary, the program director refers the issue(s) to the Counseling program's *Program Review Committee (PRC)*.
 - **See Personal Development Plan and Personal Development Plan: Process

Personal Development Plan (PDP)

Students who are identified as having deficiencies or impairments either through data collection at assessment points or faculty observation, shall be required to develop a PDP. A PDP is a behaviorally focused remediation plan established between the student and faculty of the Counseling program. Its focus is to identify specific behaviors for correction, establish measurable behavioral objectives, document progress, establish a timeframe for improvement, and outline consequences, with the overall objective of assisting the student in becoming a more effective human services practitioner.

The PDP will include, at a minimum:

1. Specific activities to be completed.

2. Target measures of accomplishment, which will be documented.

3. A schedule of regular meetings between the student and the faculty member responsible for monitoring and documenting the remediation plan;

4. A timeframe for accomplishment.

5. Contact information for the faculty member responsible for monitoring the student's progress;

6. Delineate consequences for unmet PDP goals;

7. Signatures of all parties developing the PDP.

The PDP may address professional skills remediation and/or personal development remediation. Professional skills remediation may include, but is not limited to, any/ all of the following:

- 1. Retaking courses (e.g., skills courses, ethics, content courses)
- 2. Removal from placement site
- 3. Reassignment of placement site
- 4. Specific assigned activities in placement site
- 5. Writing reflection papers
- 6. Additional supervision meetings
- 7. Other professional skills interventions, as deemed necessary and appropriate by the program faculty

Personal development remediation may include, but is not limited to, any or all the following:

- 1. Personal counseling
- 2. Writing reflection papers
- 3. Writing apology letters
- 4. Additional supervision meetings
- 5. Other personal remediation interventions as deemed necessary and appropriate by the program faculty

Copies of the plan will be retained by the student's adviser, the monitoring faculty member, the program director, and the student. The monitoring faculty member will also retain notes documenting all meetings with the student during the remediation process.

Personal Development Plan: Process

- 1. Upon observation of concerns, the faculty member or site supervisor will attempt to resolve the concern. All discussions with the student-along with any suggested interventions and student response- will be documented, copied to the program director, and placed in the student's file. Note: the faculty member may attempt more than one intervention prior to engaging step 2.
- 2. If the intervention(s) above is/are unsuccessful, the faculty member or site supervisor will make a formal written request to the Professional Review Committee (PRC) chair for a full PRC review to consider initiating a Personal Development Plan (PDP) for the student. This request will include specific behaviors to be addressed, a summary of intervention strategies to-date, and the reasons for requesting the creation of a PDP.
- 3. Notification of the formal request-and a request by the Professional Review Committee (PRC) to meet formally with the student, shall be provided to the PRC members and the student by the PRC chair within 3 business days of the PRC receiving the formal information/concerns.
- 4. The PRC chair will set a meeting within 10 business days between the PRC, student, and pertinent individuals to process the formal concerns and, as necessary, develop a PDP and timeline for resolution of the PDP. The meeting is required for the student.

- 5. At the conclusion of the established PDP deadline, the PRC, student, and any pertinent individuals will convene at a PRC meeting to discuss the current disposition of the PDP. The disposition of this conclusive PRC meeting may be:
 - a. Termination of the PDP
 - b. Continuance/Modification of the PDP
 - c. Suspension or Dismissal of the student from the program
- 6. The student shall be notified in writing of the final disposition of the PDP by the PRC Chair within 10 business days of the formal PRC meeting.
- 7. Students who are dismissed for coursework and/or professional conduct may petition the program director to be evaluated for reinstatement in the degree program after a 12-month period.
- 8. Students dismissed from the program for unsatisfactory performance in graduate level coursework are not permitted to enroll in program coursework as a non-degree seeking student.
- 9. The student may appeal the Program Review Committee decision to the Graduate Council. Graduate Council decisions are <u>final</u>.

Class Withdrawal

A graduate student may withdraw from a course according to the academic calendar posted on the website. The student must submit a drop form electronically via the Stephens College website. Students should refer to the current academic calendar for deadlines to receive refunds and/or a "W" on their transcript. A student who does not give official notice of withdrawal will receive a grade of "F" that shall be recorded on the permanent record. Instructors will be notified through My Stephens when a student withdraws officially. Failure to begin or continue to attend classes does not constitute official notice of withdrawal.

Stephens will refund all of the student's comprehensive fees if he or she cancels his or her enrollment before the first day of the semester. In the event that a student completely withdraws after the first day of classes but prior to 60% of the completion of the semester, a proration of comprehensive fees is calculated based on the number of class days attended compared to the total number of class days in the semester. Comprehensive fees are credited and financial aid is charged back in accordance with Federal regulations. Official notification of withdrawal must be given to the Program Director in all cases of voluntary withdrawal. If no official notice is provided to the College, the student will be considered to be enrolled for the purposes of this policy; additionally, the student's Stephens College academic transcript will not be released until the Withdrawal Form has been completed. After the 60% point in the semester, a student will be charged 100% of the comprehensive fees and will be deemed to have earned 100% of their financial aid.

Grade Appeals

Only final course grades may be appealed after final grades are submitted. A student who believes a final grade has been assigned incorrectly must correspond in writing with the instructor within two weeks after the receipt of the grade. Within one week of receiving this correspondence the instructor will set up a meeting with the student. The instructor may agree that a grade change is appropriate. If so, the instructor shall complete and sign a Change of Grade form, which will be signed by the Program Director and filed with the Registrar. The matter is then closed.

If a dispute about a grade cannot be resolved between the student and the instructor, then the student may appeal. The appeal procedure is as follows:

- 1. Within one week of meeting with the instructor, the student will submit the appeal in writing to the Program Director. In support of the appeal, the student must provide objective evidence that the grade was assigned incorrectly. This evidence may take the form of the course syllabus, assignments, rubrics, photocopies of graded papers, quizzes, tests, and other work performed in the course. The Program Director will establish a time to meet with the student. The Program Director cannot change the grade but will discuss the student's concerns and, failing resolution, will advise the student on further steps in the appeal procedure.
- 2. Within one week of meeting with the Program Director, the student may write to the Dean of the respective school to pursue the appeal. The student must submit to the Dean objective evidence that the grade was assigned incorrectly. The Dean shall convene an appeal panel of three members of the Graduate Council who are not faculty in the same program as the instructor involved in the appeal. The panel will examine the evidence provided and conclude its review within ten working days of its first meeting.
- 3. The panel will submit its recommendation in writing to the student, instructor, Program Director, and Dean. The panel may:
 - a. Recommend that the instructor change the grade;
 - b. Recommend that the instructor review the grade according to the criteria specified by the panel: or
 - c. Dismiss the appeal. At this point the panel's responsibilities are concluded. The panel is not empowered to change the grade. The grade that the course instructor assigned cannot be changed by anyone but that instructor.
- 4. If, after considering the panel's recommendation, the instructor wishes to change the grade, the instructor will complete and sign a Change of Grade form, which will be signed by the Program Director and filed with the Registrar. The Program Director will advise the student of a change in grade, if any. This will conclude the appeal procedure; no further review is available.
- 5. The grade appeal will be considered confidential, and only those directly involved in the appeal procedure will be provided with information concerning the appeal.
- 6. If the student chooses to make the appeal panel's written recommendation a part of her/his permanent file, the student should instruct the Dean (or her/his designee) to convey the panel's recommendation to the Registrar.

Program Suspension or Expulsion ("Dismissal")

Prior to suspension or dismissal from the program, the student (and all individuals involved) in a program dispute would be afforded full due process. This process would be conducted under the authority of the Program Review Committee. Importantly, the decisions of the Program Review Committee are final. However, if the student is suspended or expelled and wishes to appeal, the student may consult with the Registrar and submit a written appeal to the Graduate Council. The Graduate Council shall review the appeal letter and contact the student if necessary. The Graduate Council shall rule on this appeal and its decision shall be provided to the student in writing. The decision of the Graduate Council is final.

Section III: Roles & Responsibilities

ROLES & RESPONSIBILITIES

Program Director

In collaboration with the Dean and subject to the approval of the VPAA, the Program Director has responsibility for the following three areas:

Faculty

- 1. Works with faculty to recommend assignments for instruction, research, and service responsibilities.
- 2. With the Dean, manages the recruitment of new faculty.
- 3. Holds regular meetings with faculty, and in other ways communicates with program members regarding matters relevant to the school and program.
- 4. Assists with faculty professional development by encouraging faculty to participate in state, regional, and national activities.
- 5. Mentors junior faculty in the program.
- 6. Conducts performance reviews of faculty as outlined in the Faculty Personnel Policies.

Program

- 1. Prepares course schedules that meet the enrollment needs of the program and college.
- 2. Initiates and provides leadership for program reviews, evaluation, and improvement.
- 3. Ensures TherapyNotes is active for SCCC fieldwork site supervisor &/or SCCC Director.
- 4. Consults with SCCC site supervisor &/or SCCC Director on campus related mental health issues.
- 5. Engages the faculty in curriculum development to create/maintain strong academic programs.
- 6. Stimulates the formation and offering of new courses and recommends discontinuation of outdated or under-enrolled courses.
- 7. Provides program reports regarding course offerings, faculty assignments, and enrollments.
- 8. Reviews and evaluates department data with the Dean.
- 9. With the Dean, supervises administrative assistants and student workers.
- 10. Monitors expenditures to ensure the program adheres to sound fiscal practices.
- 11. Maintains an inventory of program equipment and assumes responsibility for its security.
- 12. Participates in school-wide planning.

Students

- 1. Actively engages in student recruitment.
- 2. Provides initial and follow-up information to students regarding majors in the program.
- 3. Reviews the academic records of transfer students and determines transfer credit, as appropriate.
- 4. Assigns academic advisers.
- 5. Maintains relationships with program alumnae

Clinical Coordinator: Clinical Mental Health Counseling (CMHC)

The program director may act in place of the CMHC clinical coordinator when the clinical Note: coordinator is unavailable.

Visit, assess, and (re) approve all prospective practicum and internship fieldwork placement sites. Site approval requires, minimally, an on-site face-to-face meeting between the CMHC CC and site administrator and/or prospective site supervisor(s), and b) a tour of the facility(ies) where practicum/student would complete their fieldwork hours. Formal approvement of a fieldwork placement site is made following the site visit and, if approved, is added to the Practicum and Internship Site List.

a. Prior to site visit, email current Practicum and Internship Handbook.

b. During site visit, highlight key Practicum and Internship roles, policies, and procedures to ensure prospective (current or future) fieldwork placement site administrator and/or site supervisor(s) are clear regarding program requirements and expectations.

2. Verify and approve required practicum/internship application documents submitted by students via

Supervision Assist.

- Serve as program liaison/resource for program stakeholders associated with the field experience courses in the CMHC Counseling specialization (COUN 601, 607, 608).
- 4. Coordinate as necessary with Supervision Assist coordinator to communicate with incoming practicum/internship students about documentation timelines & requirements.

5. Lead formal practicum orientation meeting for prospective CMHC counseling students.

- Coordinate as needed with the program director to confirm eligible students for enrollment in the fieldwork courses (i.e., COUN 601/607/608); Upon confirmation, notify Registrar's office of student enrollment in each section*.
 - *Upon notification by CMHC clinical coordinator, registrar's office will officially enroll students in the appropriate practicum/internship course.
- 7. Address issues and concerns related to the practicum/internship experience, including but not limited to issues related to real or potential student learning, performance, and/or disposition.
- Work with student(s), faculty supervisor(s), site supervisor(s), and program director to resolve grievances according to established program policies and procedures as stated in the student handbook and/or Stephens College Graduate Catalogue.

Summary of Course Instructor/Faculty Supervisor Roles and Responsibilities

- 1. Follow program policies/procedures as stated in current Practicum and Internship Handbook.
- 2. Communicate promptly with site supervisor and/or CMHC clinical coordinator regarding questions about direct/indirect hour documentation or other student, course, or site related issues/concerns.
- 3. Follow the Emergency Procedures policy outlined in the Practicum & Internship Handbook.
- 4. Respond promptly to all electronic communications from students, the site supervisor, the program CMHC clinical coordinator, and/or the program director.
- 5. Teach practicum/internship course(s) consistent with the course description(s) given in the Stephens College Graduate Catalogue and consistent with highest academic and ethical standards of the counseling profession.
- 6. Provide a clear syllabus that adheres to the Counseling program's master framework and addresses all program and accreditation requirements detailed in the course syllabus.
- 7. Provide minimum of 1.5 hours of group supervision per week during regularly scheduled practicum/internship semesters (as defined by Stephens College Academic Calendar).
- 8. Review a minimum of 3 student video recorded individual and/or group counseling sessions per semester.

- 9. Model best practices ethical/professional behavior in the classroom/supervision contexts (Note: Adjunct instructors are considered a member and representative of the Stephens College Counseling program).
- 10. Complete and submit all required course assessments and other required documents in Supervision Assist prior to the final semester grade submission deadline.
- 11. Model and challenge students to be critical thinkers and reflective practitioners.
- 12. Model and ensure that student(s) and all relevant site stakeholders follow appropriate ethical and legal standards.
- 13. Complete weekly documentation review & approval for all students through Supervision Assist.
- 14. The site supervisor and course instructor will hold a minimum of one (1) face-to-face meeting (i.e. "site visit") with during the semester to discuss student learning and performance. A zoom meeting can be held in lieu of a face-to-face meeting when scheduling or geographic distance pose significant barriers.
- 15. Maintain ongoing communication (via Stephens College email) with site supervisor(s)-preferably at intervals of no more than 2 weeks.
 - a. Record communication using the "Site Supervisor & Course Instructor Communication" document.
- 16. Submit final course grades on time through Mystephens.
- 17. Assess all CACREP standards (KPI/non-KPI) using the Master Assessment Rubric that was developed in the Canvas course. (Program Director will provide instructions).
- 18. Complete and submit an end of semester Course Level Assessment (CLA) to the program director at the date request, including a minimum of two pieces of evidence showing student attainment of any course KPI attainment. An example CLA will be provided by the program director several weeks prior to the conclusion of the semester.

Summary of (Field Placement) Site Supervisor Roles and Responsibilities

- 1. Holds a minimum of a master's degree in counseling or related profession, full licensure as a mental health provider in the State of Missouri, and minimum of two years professional experience.
- 2. Be aware of and follow guidelines as outlined in the Practicum and Internship Manual provided by the counseling program.
- 3. Review, verify, & sign all required student documentation (weekly logs, mid-term/final evaluations, etc.) in Supervision Assist in a timely manner.
- 4. Complete a Supervision Contract with the supervisee by the 3rd week of each academic semester & update when appropriate.
- 5. Be physically present on-site when a practicum/internship student is providing in-person/telehealth services; Practicum/internship student(s) are not allowed to engage in direct service activities absent an approved site supervisor (primary or secondary) being physically present on-site.
- 6. Uphold the policies in this manual.
- 7. Follow the *Emergency Procedures* policy outlined in the Practicum & Internship Handbook.
- 8. Respond promptly to all electronic communications from students, the course instructor/faculty supervisor, the program CMHC clinical coordinator, and/or the program director.
- 9. Weekly site-supervision can be held with the student's approved primary site supervisor via telehealth/zoom through supervisee's Stephens College Supervision Assist account or other program approved virtual platform (i.e., placement site's approved telehealth platform).

- 10. Provide minimum of one (1) hour of individual/triadic clinical supervision per week.
 - a. Group supervision is not a substitute for the 1 hour of individual/triadic supervision.
 - b. With CMHC/SC clinical coordinator written approval, site supervision may be provided via Supervision Assist protected Zoom. The degree to which Supervision Assist is utilized is determined by the CMHC clinical coordinator in collaboration with the site's program approved supervisor.
- 11. Review student documentation notes on a weekly basis and provide guidance and feedback on clinical documentation skills.
- 12. Review a minimum of 3 student recorded videos of the course of the semester.
- 13. Provide student opportunities to engage in the range of professional activities associated with the role of a licensed counselor (CMHC).
- 14. Provide & support opportunities for students to video and/or audio record direct service activities (i.e., individual/small group counseling, etc.) sessions using Stephens College counseling program's Supervision Assist** platform. (**HIPAA-compliant zoom)
- 15. Provide the student with adequate workspace, technology, office supplies, support staff and training necessary for all students to effectively conduct their expected roles and responsibilities while onsite.
- 16. Coordinate a replacement/secondary supervisor for student when necessary (vacations, personal leave, alternate site locations, etc.).
 - a. Students will not be allowed to gain direct hours absent a program-approved site supervisor being on-site.
- 17. Provide Counseling program with substantive mid-term and end-of-semester ("final") student assessments.
- 18. Conduct/document face-to-face review of mid-term/final evaluations with student.
- 19. Complete all required program, course, and site documentation in a timely and professional manner

Summary of Practicum and Internship Student Roles and Responsibilities

- 1. Submit all required practicum/internship documentation in Supervision Assist by the deadline established by the Supervision Assist coordinator.
- Engage with course instructor/faculty supervisor, site supervisor(s), peers (classmates), counseling faculty, and on-site fieldwork placement staff (administrative/clinical/facilities) in a professional/ethical manner.
- 3. Adhere American Counseling Association/American School Counseling Association ethical code(s).
- 4. Being punctual & prepared to/for all scheduled classes and case presentations.
- 5. Follow the Emergency Procedures policy outlined in the Practicum & Internship Handbook.
- 6. Respond promptly to all electronic communications from the course instructor/faculty supervisor, site supervisor, CMHC clinical coordinator, and/or the program director.
- 7. Provide onsite direct and indirect services (in-person and/or telehealth) only when approved primary/secondary site supervisor is physically present. Permission to conduct off-site indirect hours involving client information must have approval of CMHC coordinator and site supervisor.
- 8. Complete a minimum of 1 hour/wk. individual/triadic supervision with approved site supervisor.
 - a. Individual/triadic must avg 1 hr./week over per each practicum/internship semester.
- 9. Complete a minimum of 1.5 hours/week of group supervision per each practicum/internship semester
- 10. Being punctual & prepared to/for all site activities, including but not limited to:
 - a. All scheduled direct/indirect service, and individual/triadic service hours as scheduled with site supervisor..
 - b. Counseling sessions and other direct hour related activities.
 - c. Professional meetings/clinical staffing, or other activities required by the site supervisor.

11. Dress in a professional manner consistent with site policies.

a. Defer to "business casual" attire on site unless permission is provided by their site supervisor to dress in a more casual manner. Even then, Counseling students are expected to dress and behave in a manner one would expect of a counseling professional/representative of the Stephens College Counseling program.

12. Be and remain open to constructive feedback from clinical coordinator, peers, course instructor/faculty supervisor, site supervisors, and site staff, clients, and members of the community.

13. Always provide strength-based feedback.

14. Complete direct service hours only when approved site supervisor is physically present on site. Clarify issues immediately with course instructor/faculty supervisor, site supervisor(s), and/or CMHC program coordinator.

15. Complete all required program and site documentation in accordance with deadlines set by the counseling program, Supervision Assist coordinator, CMHC clinical coordinator, course instructor/faculty supervisor, and/or site supervisor(s).

16. Remain actively engaged in gaining direct/indirect service hours at the clinical site throughout the official Stephens College academic semester calendar, regardless of if minimal direct/indirect hours have been met prior to official end of the semester.

Emergency Procedures

Site supervisors, course instructors (faculty supervisors), and practicum and internship students are expected to act promptly in any situation where there is concern regarding personal safety/security or the safety/security of a client. As a baseline, practicum and internship students should inquire about, carefully review, and follow the specific emergency plans of their fieldwork placement site.

The following outlines the Stephens College Counseling Program's procedures and expectations for addressing emergency situations that may occur on-campus, at a practicum or internship placement site, and/or during telehealth service delivery.

Practicum and internship students are expected to promptly consult with their site supervisor,

course instructor (faculty supervisor), CMHC Clinical Coordinator, and/or Counseling Program Director whenever concerns arise about personal or client safety, or other issues that could negatively impact the student, course, client(s), site, or supervisors.

Contact information for the CMHC Clinical Coordinator and Program Director is provided below. Students and site/faculty supervisors should ensure they have current contact information for their key stakeholders readily available.

Campus Safety and Security Information

Students and course instructors (faculty supervisors) are encouraged to download the Stephens Emergency Alerts via the LiveSafe App. This app provides up-to-date emergency information related to campus and community events, including weather-related emergencies. Additional information regarding campus safety and security can be found at Safety & Security Services - Stephens College.

Section IV: Course Requirements

Course	Direct Hours (minimum)	Indirect Hours (minimum)	Individual/Triadic Site Supervision (minimum)	Group Supervision (minimum)	Total Hours (minimum)
COUN 601: CMHC Practicum	40	60	1 hour per week	1.5 hrs./week	100
COUN 607: CMHC Internship I	120	180	I hour per week	1.5 hrs./week	300
COUN 608: CMHC Internship II	120	180	1 hour per week	1.5 hrs./week	300

Additional Practicum & Internship Course Policy:

- 1. Minimum enrollment in all Practicum sections is 3 students to ensure required group supervision is completed. Practicum & Internship courses are not combined.
- 2. Practicum hours exceeding the required minimum direct and indirect hours are not transferable to use as direct/indirect hours for Internship I or Internship II courses.
- 3. COUN 607 interns who exceed the minimum required direct/indirect hours may log up to 20 direct hours and 20 indirect hours toward the required COUN 608 direct/indirect hours.
- 4. Students are required to remain on site and actively engaged in maintaining a consistent client caseload (i.e., direct hours) throughout the full semester of each practicum and/internship semester, regardless of having met the minimal direct/indirect hours at any time prior to the official end of the semester.

Note: Guidelines below are distinct from current graduate catalogue policy and represent current program policy.

- 1. *Student must complete 100% of each of the required direct & indirect hours to receive a final grade.
- 2. *Student must complete 85% of each of the required direct & indirect hours to be eligible to receive a grade of "Incomplete/I". *
- *Without a statement from the faculty supervisor, site supervisor, and concentration clinical coordinator attesting to issues limiting student's ability to complete minimally required hours for a final grade or "I", failure to complete the required minimum 85% direct/indirect hours for an "I" will be eligible for a grade no higher than a "C" and, per program policy, will be required to re-take the course and be placed on a remediation plan (See: Personal Development Plan).

Clarification/Determination of Practicum/Internship Activity

The Stephens Counseling Program adheres to the definition and parameters as defined in the 2024 CACREP Glossary regarding what constitutes-and what students can officially log toward practicum/internship hour requirements. As defined on pages 2-3 and 34-35 of this handbook, these activities include but are not limited to Direct Hours, Indirect Hours, Individual Triadic Supervision, and Group Supervision. Clarification on what may constitute any recordable activity (i.e., direct/indirect/supervision) is often needed. In all such cases, students must consult with their faculty supervisor prior to logging the activity in Supervision Assist. A final determination of how the student is to record ("log") the activity is made by the faculty supervisor in consultation with the CMHC clinical coordinator to ensure accuracy and consistency.

Individual/Triadic and Group Supervision Requirements

- 1. Practicum/Internship students are expected to average a minimum of 1 hour of individual/triadic and 1.5 hours of group supervision per week during each practicum & internship semester.
- 2. Practicum/Internship students unable to complete a minimum of 1 hour of individual/triadic supervision during any week of their practicum/internship course are required to set up additional individual/triadic or group supervision with their Site and/or Faculty supervisor to ensure required supervision hours are completed.

Group Supervision (i.e., Classroom-based Practicum/Internship Course)

Practicum/Internship students are expected to attend all weekly two-hour practicum/internship courses. Students should record the class as "group supervision" under "indirect hours". While group supervision is central to the practicum/internship courses, additional on-site group supervision is encouraged when available. **Importantly**, on-site group supervision hours are independent of the required 1 (one) hour of individual/triadic hour per week requirement and cannot be substituted for attending formal COUN 601/607/608 classes. In other words, they <u>cannot</u> be substituted for individual/triadic site supervision hours or the group supervision hours gained through scheduled practicum or internship courses.

Practicum/Internship students are expected to attend all weekly two-hour practicum/internship courses.

Students should record the class as "group supervision" under "indirect hours". While group supervision is central to the practicum/internship courses, additional on-site group supervision is encouraged when available. Importantly, on-site group supervision hours are independent of the required 1 (one) hour of individual/triadic hour per week requirement. In other words, they cannot be substituted for individual/triadic site supervision hour or the group supervision hours gained through scheduled practicum or internship courses.

Academic Performance

Students must receive a grade of "B" or better in all courses and maintain a cumulative 3.0 GPA. A student earning a grade of "C" or "D" shall be required to repeat the course and may be placed on a Personal Development Plan (PDP: see below) under the direction of the students assigned faculty advisor. Students earning any combination of more than two "C" or "D" grades will be automatically placed on a PDP and required to attain or maintain a minimum 3.0 GPA by the next semester or face automatic program dismissal failing grade ("F") will result in automatic program dismissal.

Program Grading Scale

The program uses the following grading scale for all courses.

Letter Grade	Percentage/Points Earned	Program of Study Outcome
Α	93-100	Pass
В	92-85	Pass
C	77-84	Retake Course/Remediation Required
D	69-76	Retake Course/Remediation Required
F	0-68	Automatic Program Dismissal
Ĩ	Incomplete	Requires Course Completion Plan
W	Withdraw	No Grade Penalty; Tuition Fee Penalty Possible

Presence in Class

1. Practicum/internship students are expected to be present, in person, and prepared for all scheduled classes. This includes courses moved online due to inclement weather or other official Stephens College directives. Policies for absence(s) from class are documented in the respective CMHC practicum/internship course syllabus.

Student Presence: On-Site

- 1. Practicum/Internship students are expected to be physically present at their clinical site for a minimum of 10 hours per week but should consider additional hours to gain professional experience.
- 2. Practicum/internship students are allowed to engage in telehealth activities under the following guidelines:
 - Telehealth services are a known activity at the student's verified site.
 - The student and approved site supervisor are physically present at the site where the telehealth service is being offered.
 - The student has a current, approved "Telehealth Consent" form on file in Supervision Assist.

Student Presence: Sites using Telehealth Services

The Counseling program recognizes the increasing use of telehealth services for client care. As such, the following policies have been designed to broaden student options for gaining supervised direct/indirect hours through telehealth/online platforms.

Providing Telehealth Services

- 1. The clinical site has been approved by the CMHC clinical coordinator(s).
- 2. The approved clinical site supervisor(s)/administrator(s)/practice owner(s) has/have clearly demonstrated to the CMHC clinical coordinator(s) that telehealth services are an essential element of serving clients at their organization/practice.
- 3. The approved clinical site supervisor(s)/administrator(s)/practice owner(s) has/have clearly demonstrated to the CMHC clinical coordinator(s) that their site provides direct/indirect telehealth services to clients through a secure telehealth platform.
- 4. The practicum/internship student has a verified *Telehealth Consent* document on file in supervision assist. Unless approved by a CMHC clinical coordinator, CMHC practicum/internship students are NOT allowed to provide direct service hours via telehealth to clients outside of the physical location of the approved site.
- 5. The student's approved site supervisor must be physically present on site for the practicum/internship student to provide direct care telehealth services to clients.
 - 6. Approved site supervisors will be, minimally, available in-person for supervision/consultation for students to provide telehealth services to clients.
- 7. Unless approved by the CMHC clinical coordinator and the student's approved site supervisor, and with a current, verified Telehealth Consent form, students are expected to audio/video record sessions using the program's HIPAA compliant *Supervision Assist* clinical software platform.
 - a. Students are <u>required</u> to inform the course instructor and CMHC clinical coordinator if a disallows the use of Supervision Assist for recording and/or requires use of the site's telehealth system. When notified, the CMHC clinical coordinator will work to resolve any differences directly with the site supervisor(s)/administrator(s).

Group Counseling Leadership/Co-Leadership Requirements & Policy

As part of the clinical training requirements in practicum and internship, all Stephens College Counseling Program (SCCP) students must complete a minimum of two (2) direct client contact hours leading or colleading a counseling or psychoeducational group. This requirement is outlined in the Practicum and Internship Student Handbook.

Students are required to lead or co-lead a minimum of two (2) group counseling sessions during their practicum and/or internship coursework. Regardless of their role (leader or co-leader), students must remain actively engaged in the group sessions. Passive observation (i.e., "shadowing") or minimal involvement will not satisfy the group leadership requirement and will not be approved by either the course instructor or site supervisor.

All group leadership hours must be accurately documented in Supervision Assist as part of the student's official direct service hour requirements.

If a student's assigned practicum or internship site does not provide an opportunity to lead or co-lead a group, the student must notify the Clinical Mental Health Counseling (CMHC) Clinical Coordinator. Upon notification, the CMHC Clinical Coordinator will work with the student and/or program faculty to identify options for fulfilling the group counseling requirement. These options include:

- Advising the student about potential secondary site opportunities known to provide group counseling and providing relevant contact information.
- Communicating directly with the administration and/or site supervisors of approved practicum/internship sites to inquire about the possibility of serving as a secondary placement for students to complete group counseling requirements.

If a secondary placement site cannot be secured, students are required to complete their minimum group leadership hours through COUN 520: Group Counseling course's experiential group experience. Students utilizing this option must:

- Contact the COUN 520 course instructor to formally request the opportunity to lead and/or colead a minimum of two (2) group sessions during the next available offering of COUN 520.
- Receive permission from the COUN 520 instructor and follow all directions regarding the
 requirements, processes, and timelines for completing the required group counseling hours.
- Submit a short written proposal to the COUN 520 instructor via email, outlining the group's purpose, target population, format, and intended number of sessions.
- Under the supervision of the COUN 520 instructor, lead or co-lead the required sessions and complete all related documents and activities as instructed.
- Ensure that all group leadership/co-leadership hours are appropriately logged and verified in Supervision Assist.

Students participating in group leadership through COUN 520 must also:

- Be concurrently enrolled in a practicum or internship course during the semester they lead a group within COUN 520.
- Conduct all group sessions in accordance with HIPAA regulations and uphold strict confidentiality standards to protect participant privacy.

Depending on class size and at the discretion of the COUN 520 instructor, students leading a group through this course may be approved to conduct up to five (5) group sessions.

The program is committed to ensuring that all students meet CACREP standards for group counseling experience while maintaining the highest ethical, legal, and professional practice expectations.

Section V: Assessment

CACREP Standards/Key Performance Indicator Assessment

All CACREP standards aligned with CMHC Practicum and Internship Courses are assessed using the program's Master Assessment Rubric, which includes the following assessment levels.

- Exceeds Standard
- Meets Standard
- Minimally Meets Standard (Minimum Performance Expectation)
- Does Not Meet Standard
- Not Applicable

Note: While individual practicum and internship course instructors may use different scoring rubrics on assignments, all instructors use the CACREP standards to render a final assessment of each individual CACREP standard aligned with the specific practicum/internship course.

Unmet Minimum Thresholds: Performance on KPI/Non-KPI CACREP Standards

Faculty assess students in all classes using a master assessment rubric. In this rubric, performance levels on designated student learning outcomes (i.e., CACREP standards/CMHC) is assessed at "Exceeds Standard", "Meets Standard", "Minimally Meets Standard", "Does Not Meet Standard", and Not Applicable". The process for addressing "unmet minimum thresholds" (i.e., "Does Not Meet Standard") is noted below.

- a. A student who fails to meet the minimal performance threshold (i.e., "minimally meets" or better) on any formal measure of knowledge, skills, and/or professional dispositions as assessed by a course instructor (CI), fieldwork site supervisor (FSS), and/or faculty supervisor* (FS) are initially subject to the remediation plan designed by the CI and/or FS.
 - **Course Instructors (CI) serve as Faculty Supervisor (FS) only in the prac/internship courses.
- b. If a student is non-compliant with the remediation plan and/or fails to meet the minimal performance threshold for the unmet standard(s), the CI/FS will refer the student to the program's Professional Review Committee (PRC) for further required remediation in accordance with the program's established remediation policies and procedures. (see Remediation, Retention, Dismissal policies, pp. 40-50)
- c. Once the unmet standard(s) is met as determined by the PRC, the FS determines a final official grade and submits an official grade change form to the Office of the Registrar.

Student Personal and Professional Dispositions

Counseling faculty, fieldwork site supervisors, and faculty supervisors systematically assess the professional dispositions (numbered below) of students at multiple points in the program. Dispositional assessments are completed by faculty on all pre-fieldwork students during their first and second fall semesters using the *Student Dispositional Assessment*. During the mid-term & conclusion of each fieldwork course, fieldwork site supervisors, faculty supervisors, and students assess (& self-assess) student professional dispositions (& knowledge/skills) using the *CMHC-Site Supervisor & Course Instructor Assessment and Student Self-Assessment, respectively*. Site/faculty supervisors will then

review their mid-term/final evaluation with each student/supervisee and, if required, take remedial action per program policy (see "Unmet Thresholds", p. 39; Remediation, Retention, Dismissal policies, pp. 40-50).

- Ethical Behavior: Student demonstrates attitudes, behaviors, and decision-making that adhere to the current American Counseling Association Ethical Code and/or ASCA Ethical Standards.
 - a. ACA Code of Ethics: ACA 2014 Code of Ethics (counseling.org)
 - b. ASCA Ethical Standards for School Counselors: <u>Ethical-Standards.pdf</u> (schoolcounselor.org)
- 2. **Professionalism/Behavior**: Student demonstrates attitudes and behavior that is respectful toward instructors, supervisors, peers, clients, and all other individuals-at all times.
- 3. **Respect for Boundaries**: Student demonstrates ability and willingness to set and maintain healthy professional personal boundaries with instructors, supervisors, peers, clients/students, and all other individuals-at all times; Demonstrate respect for the personal boundaries of all individuals.
- 4. **Multicultural Competence/Humility**: Student displays awareness of and ability to demonstrate openness, respect, and humility to and for the experiences and beliefs of all individuals and groups; Demonstrates behavior and attitudes that facilitate a respectful, inclusive learning environment in in-person and online interactions with faculty, peers, supervisors, clients/students, and all other individuals.
- 5. Emotional maturity and stability: Student demonstrates emotional maturity and ability to self-regulate emotions with peers, instructors, supervisors, and all other individuals.
- 6. Personal and Professional Growth: Student demonstrates engagement and initiative toward personal growth and development.
- 7. Openness to Feedback: Student demonstrates willingness to seek out, provide, respond to, and integrate feedback from peers, instructors, supervisors, and/or clients/students in a strength-based, positive manner.
- 8. Adaptableness/Flexibility: Student demonstrates ability to respond/adapt to relational, environmental, and/or procedural changes in a professional manner in classroom (inperson/online) and clinical/school settings.
- 9. **Genuineness**: Student demonstrates non-judgmental attitudes and behaviors toward the experiences and worldview of all individuals.
- 10. **Personal Wellness**: Student demonstrates openness to and engagement in advocating for the holistic wellness of self and all individuals.

Formative & Summative Assessment

As part of the Stephens Counseling Program's Comprehensive Assessment Plan, the following formative and summative assessments are administered during the practicum and internship courses.

Location of Practicum and Internship Assessment Documents

All Practicum and Internship assessment documents listed below are found and should be completed/submitted in Supervision Assist and will be available to students at the beginning of the semester in Supervision Assist.

Course and Site Supervisor Assessment

Practicum and internship students are assessed by the course instructor and site supervisor(s) in the areas of knowledge, disposition, and performance at the **mid-term** and **conclusion** of COUN 601: CMHC Practicum, COUN 607: CMHC Internship I, and COUN 608: Internship II, respectively. All assessments are located and completed in Supervision Assist, available for review in the student's dedicated Supervision Assist course (i.e., COUN 601), and available to download and print.

Assessment Document: CMHC-Site Supervisor & Course Instructor Assessment

Student Self-Assessment

Practicum and internship students complete self-assessments of their knowledge, disposition, and performance at the **mid-term** and **conclusion** of COUN 601: CMHC Practicum, COUN 607: CMHC Internship I, and COUN 608: Internship II, respectively. All assessments are located and completed in Supervision Assist, available for review in the student's dedicated Supervision Assist course (i.e., COUN 601), and available to download and print.

Assessment Document: CMHC-Student Self-Assessment

Student Assess of Program, Course Instructor, Fieldwork Placement Site, and Site Supervisor Practicum and internship students complete a series of end of semester assessments of their course instructor, site supervisor, and site, respectively. All assessments are located and completed in Supervision Assist, available for review in the student's dedicated Supervision Assist course (i.e., COUN 601), and available to download and print.

Assessment Documents:

- 1. Student Evaluation of Practicum-Internship Instructor
- 2. Student Evaluation of Practicum-Internship Site
- 3. Student Evaluation of Practicum-Internship Site Supervisor
- 4. Practicum & Internship Placement Process Survey

Stephens College Assessment

Practicum and Internship students may also be asked to complete a formal Stephens College course instructor evaluation. The process for accessing and completing this assessment is in the box below.

- 1. During the last two weeks of each semester, a link to the formal faculty/course instructor evaluation is emailed to students at their Stephens College email address.
- 2. Students click on the link and complete/submit the faculty/course instructor evaluation.
- 3. Faculty/Course Instructor Evals are open for students to complete for two weeks and close the day before grades are officially required to be posted (generally 2-3 days from last day of scheduled semester courses).
- 4. Faculty/course instructor evaluations are available to faculty in Canvas once grades have been officially submitted.
- 5. Faculty access their course/instructor evaluations via each course's Canvas location by using the "EvaluationKIT Course" link The program director has administrative access to all faculty/course instructor evaluations. Given adjunct faculty Canvas accounts may be discontinued quickly after the

semester, the program director provides them to adjunct faculty to ensure they can review their evaluations.

Section VI: Documentation/Records

Practicum & Internship Records

Student practicum and internship documents through the Fall 2023 semester are stored in locked file cabinets in secure rooms that are accessible only to core faculty. Beginning the spring semester of 2024, all practicum and internship documents are stored, completed, submitted, and secured electronically in the student's password protected, HIPAA compliant Supervision Assist account.

Access to the student's Supervision Assist account is provided to specific program stakeholders under the following parameters.

Access Required for Program Administration

- Supervision Assist liaison (Dr. Irvin)
- CMHC Clinical Coordinator (Dr. Shoge)
- Program Director (Dr. Kissinger)

Access Required for Supervision & Course Management

- Faculty Supervisor (by semester only)
- Fieldwork Site Supervisor (by semester only)

Required Documentation

Practicum and internship students are required to complete a series of documents prior to enrollment in each practicum and internship course. Failure to submit required practicum and internship documentation in Supervision Assist by the date(s) assigned by the CMHC/SC Coordinator and Supervision Assist Coordinator will render the student ineligible to begin their intended course until all documentation is submitted and verified by their specialization clinical coordinator/Supervision Assist Coordinator. This includes students who remain at their previous semester's site. No exceptions.

Practicum and internship courses require the completion of the following documents (timeframes noted in parentheses) Copies of all required Practicum and Internship documents listed below are found in Canvas in the *Counseling Advising Site*.

Location of Practicum and Internship Documents

All Practicum and Internship documents are found and should be completed/submitted in Supervision Assist. Information regarding specific practicum and internship application packets in Supervision Assist, which include documents 1-14 below, will be emailed to students the semester prior to the practicum/internship course by the Supervision Assist coordinator.

Supervision Assist

The following statement is found in the Practicum/Internship syllabi:

As part of the Stephens College Counseling Program, all courses requiring the recording of counseling sessions will utilize Supervision Assist. Supervision Assist is a HIPAA-compliant platform designed to ensure the confidentiality and security of all recorded sessions. Students are required to create a Supervision Assist account during their first semester in the program. If you encounter any issues or have questions about Supervision Assist, please contact Dr. Irvin at sirvin@stephens.edu. Additionally, detailed information and resources about Supervision Assist can be found on the Counseling Advising Site in CANVAS.

In addition to using Supervision Assist, proficiency in Microsoft Word and PowerPoint is essential for completing assignments in your counseling courses. Please ensure you are familiar with these tools to meet course requirements effectively.

If you have any issues with MyStephens, CANVAS, the Student Gateway, or other technology issues, please contact the Information & Technology Services Department (I&TS). You can reach them at (573) 876-2381, Ext. 4381, or via email at helpdesk@stephens.edu. To report an issue, I&TS will require you to submit a ticket to the helpdesk using the helpdesk@stephens.edu email address.

Supervision Assist (SA) is a HIPAA-secure, cloud-based platform used by the Counseling program for practicum and internship. While students use SA's capabilities for recording counseling practice sessions/assignments in multiple courses, Supervision Assist is primarily utilized by CMHC and SC students across their practicum and internship courses. Specific activities completed within Supervision Assist include recording counseling sessions, completing required practicum and internship documentation (including self/site evaluations), reviewing recoded sessions (i.e., individual/group supervision), and storage of all student, instructor, and site supervisor practicum and internship assessments. Questions regarding Supervision Assist should be directed to Dr. Irvin (sirvin@stephens.edu), the program's designated Supervision Assist coordinator.

On the Supervision Assist website (<u>Supervision Assist: Unparalleled Practicum & Internship Training</u>), students, course instructors, and site supervisors are provided multiple "how to" training videos for using Supervision Assist. To access training guides/videos, students, course instructors, and site supervisors should log in to Supervision Assist and then can click on the (?) in the upper right corner.

TherapyNotes

The program uses TherapyNotes, a secure web-based clinical practice software platform for documentation, scheduling, and related administrative tasks at the Stephens College Counseling Center, the program's dedicated fieldwork placement site for practicum and internship students. Students placed at the SCCC are provided a subscription (i.e., access) to TherapyNotes at no cost to them for the duration of their practicum/internship.

Documentation Submission Process: Students

Practicum/internship students must submit all practicum/internship documentation required by the program via Supervision Assist and by the dates assigned by the Counseling program. Incomplete documentation may result in the student being denied enrollment and/or continuation of the respective practicum/internship course. This includes copy of site supervisor resume & active State license (i.e., LPC, LCSW, LP).

Once a practicum/internship site placement offer has been extended by the site and accepted by the student, the following process must be completed for the student to begin direct/indirect on-site activities:

- a. The student receives an email with instructions regarding the completion & submission of all required practicum/internship documentation in Supervision Assist. (i.e., Practicum/Internship Application)
- b. Student completes and submits all required practicum/internship application documentation in Supervision Assist.
- c. Supervision Assist Liaison and CMHC Clinical Coordinator review and approve all required practicum/internship application documentation is completed.
- d. Students who fail to submit ALL required practicum/internship documentation by the timeline established by the SA liaison /program are:
 - i. **Ineligible** to be present on-site (and/or online) at their approved practicum/internship site until all required documentation is verified and approved by the Supervision Assist Liaison and CMHC Clinical Coordinator.
 - ii. Ineligible to engage in any indirect and/or direct activities on-site (or online) until all required documentation is verified and approved by the Supervision Assist Liaison and CMHC Clinical Coordinator.

Failure to abide by any element of the program's policy/timeline for submitting required practicum/internship documentation may face disciplinary action up to and including program termination

Documentation Submission Process: Field Placement Site Supervisors

As part of their practicum/internship application process, students will send a Supervision Assist request via email to their site supervisor. By completing the Supervision Assist process, which requires submission of a current resume/vita and copy of their active professional license (i.e., State of MO LPC, LCSW, LP), site supervisors are given the following authorizations:

- Access to their supervisee's Supervision Assist practicum/internship course profile (approved course only).
- Authorization to view/assess supervisee's video recorded counseling sessions with clients.
- Authorization to approve/disapprove supervisee's direct/indirect hours.
- Authorization to use Supervision Assist's Zoom feature to record individual/triadic supervision.

Note: A Supervision Assist training video and other resources are available to Field Placement Site Supervisors on the Counseling program's homepage under the *Practicum & Internship Resources* link.

Documentation Submission Process: Faculty Supervisors

The program provides course instructors ("Faculty Supervisors") with access to Supervision Assist during their contracted semester(s) with the program. The program's Supervision Assist liaison will email instructions for creating a Supervision Assist account. Upon creating their Supervision Assist account, faculty supervisors are authorized for the following privileges:

- Access to the Supervision Assist profiles of all students enrolled in their specific practicum/internship course. Supervision Assist practicum/internship course profile
- Authorization to view/assess supervisee's video recorded counseling sessions with clients.
- Authorization to approve/disapprove supervisee's direct/indirect hours.
- Authorization to use Supervision Assist's Zoom feature for the purposes of holding class/group supervision prn (i.e., inclement weather).

Section VII: Practicum & Internship Documentation

Practicum & Internship Application Documents

Affiliation Agreement
Fieldwork Experience Site Supervisor Agreement
Telehealth Consent
Supervision Contract
Holiday & Inclement Weather
Site Supervisor/Instructor (Faculty Supervisor) Comm & Site Visit Summary
Informed Consent
Honorarium
Attestation
Stipend Agreement

Practicum & Internship Assessment Documents

Site Supervisor & Faculty Supervisor ("Course Instructor") Assessment
Student Self-Assessment
Student Evaluation of Practicum & Internship Site Supervisor
Student Evaluation of Practicum-Internship Faculty Supervisor ("Course Instructor")
Student Evaluation of Practicum-Internship Site
Live Supervision Assessment
Supplemental Assessment
Practicum & Internship Placement Process Survey

AFFILIATION AGREEMENT

Stephens College Counseling Program

THIS COOPERA	TIVE AGR	EEMENT (hereinafter the "Agreement) is made and
	day of	by and between Stephens College (hereinafter the
"College") and		(hereinafter called "Agency").

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, The College, has a program in Counseling (COUN) and is desirous of cooperating with the Agency for the benefit of COUN students as well as the benefit of the Agency and,

WHEREAS, the Agency is desirous of establishing counseling training opportunities and of obtaining the educational and practical benefits to be derived from the carrying out of such opportunities and desires to cooperate with the college in this respect,

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and for such other further considerations as hereinafter contained, the parties hereby agree on the following terms and conditions as follows:

1. RESPONSIBILITIES OF COLLEGE

- 1.1 The College shall offer to the Agency a current manual describing the policies and procedures specific to the COLLEGE's COUN program practicum and internship courses, respectively.
- 1.2 The College shall offer to the Agency the COLLEGE COUN program's current manual that describes the expected roles and responsibilities of the clinical coordinator, course instructor(s), site supervisor(s), and students for the COUN program practicum and internship courses, respectively.
- The College shall offer to the Agency's COUN program verified site supervisor(s) complimentary access to COUN program software ("Supervision Assist), enabling the Agency's COUN program-verified site supervisor to view all student recorded audio/video recorded sessions and complete all required documentation for the COUN program's practicum and internship courses, respectively.
- The College shall inform the Agency in writing of the activities it requests the Agency to allow each student to engage in during their practicum and/or internship coursework, and the proposed beginning and ending dates of the practicum/internship course for each student. The activities at the Agency shall be consistent with the curriculum obligations for clinical experience under the Counseling program.
- 1.5 The College shall inform each student that he or she is considered, for legal as

well as practical purposes, a guest on the premises of the Agency for the duration of the practicum/internship course. The premises of the Agency consist of any building, land or vehicle owned or operated by the Agency.

The College shall provide each student with all orientations information and 1.6 materials necessary to begin his or her internship on the date requested by the

College.

The College shall inform each student of his or her responsibility to conform to all 1.7 Agency rules, policies and procedures, as well as all Missouri and Federal statutes and regulations applicable to the student's activities in the practicum/internship or presence on the agencies premises while using the agencies facilities, equipment and supplies in the context of ongoing clinical and/or non-clinical activities on the Agency premises.

The College assumes full responsibility for planning and implementation of its 1.8 Counseling program including programming, administration, supervision,

curriculum content and the requirements for matriculation, promotion and graduation, as well as provision of an overall orientation for Agency personnel about the College's Counseling program.

The College shall provide the formal classroom instruction necessary to prepare 1.9

its students for the clinical experience at the Agency.

The College shall instruct its students to dress appropriately for their assigned role 1.10 and to wear proper identification when they are in the clinical setting.

The College will provide proof of liability insurance at the Agency's request. 1.11

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AGENCY 2.

To the extent it does not interfere with the agencies normal function, the Agency 2.1 shall use its reasonable efforts to offer each student a productive, practical learning experience, within the parameters of the practicum/internship course requirements requested by the College. The Agency does not guarantee any specific result to any student in connection with the practicum and/or internship.

Agency will conduct an orientation for each student in respect to the policies of 2.2 the Agency and will provide each student with a place for safekeeping of student

belongings while participating in affiliation duties.

Agency understands that the student will participate in providing, but shall not be 2.3

solely responsible for, client services rendered at Agency.

Agency shall provide the student the opportunity to participate in meetings, 2.4 conferences and programs of interest which are related to their course/program requirements and discipline. It is understood, however, that Agency has sole primary responsibility for client care and treatment.

Agency will communicate with course instructor and/or CMHC clinical 2.5 coordinator to address concerns related to student disposition (including

ethical/legal concerns) and performance.

Agency, via Agency/College verified site supervisor, will complete all required 2.6 documentation as outlined in the specific practicum and/or internship course in which they are supervising a COUN program student.

Agency site supervisor, approved by College/COUN program, will be physically 2.7 present on Agency premises unless alternative option has been agreed upon by

Agency and College.

Agency site supervisor, approved by COUN program, will provide minimum of 2.8 one (1) hour of weekly individual or triadic supervision to the student.

Agency will allow COUN student to record* (e.g., *audio/visual) minimum of 2.9 three (3), student-led individual or group counseling sessions for each practicum/internship course.

3. RESPONSIBILITIES OF BOTH PARTIES

Both parties acknowledge and agree to instruct student(s) on the importance of 3.1 respecting the confidential nature of all information, which may come to them regarding Agency protected health information while participating in the clinical education at the Agency.

College will not discriminate against any student in its assignments to this 3.2 program because of race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, marital status,

- parental status or national origin. Agency will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.
- Both parties recognize that they are bound to comply with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA or the Buckley Amendment) in the handling of educational records of students enrolled in their programs.

3.4 Both parties agree that any amendments to this Agreement will be effective only if in writing and signed by all parties.

Mutual Indemnification – Each party shall indemnify, defend, protect, hold harmless, and release the other, its officers, agents, and employees, from and against any and all claims, loss, proceedings, damages, causes of action, liability, costs, or expense (including attorneys' fees and witness costs) arising from or in connection with, or caused by any act, omission, or negligence of such indemnifying party or its agents, employees, contractors, subcontractors, or invitees.

4. TERM AND TERMINATION	
This Agreement is valid beginning a until This Agreement may be ten other in writing and to include a clear description of termination shall not, however, take effect with resprogram until the Agency, COLLEGE, COUN prostudent has been notified in writing as to the reason of termination. The College and Agency shall revistudent's official start date at the Agency for each Agency.	gard to Students enrolled in the COUN gram clinical coordinator, and COUN n for the termination and the effective date ew this Agreement prior to COUN
Stephens College Counseling Program (College)	(Agency)
Dr. Daniel B. Kissinger (Authorized Agent)	(Authorized Agent)
Counseling Program Director (Title)	(Title)
(Date)	(Date)
Stephens College	
Dr. Leslie Willey (Authorized Agent)	
Vice President of Academic Affairs (Title)	
(Date)	



Counseling Program

Fieldwork Experience Site Supervisor Agreement

Student Information

Name:

Concentration Area (e.g., CMHC or SC): Course (e.g., COUN 601: CMHC Practicum)

Semester/Year (e.g., Fall 2024)

Stephens Email:

Phone (primary contact):

Site Information

Organization/School (Primary):

Site Address:

Site Phone #:

Site Email:

SITE SUPERVISOR Information (Primary)

Name:

Title/Position:

Email:

Phone (Office)

Phone (Cell/Professional):

Phone (Cell/Personal):

Site Address:

Degree(s):

Certification/Licensure (State & Licensure #)

SITE SUPERVISOR Information (Secondary/PRN)

Name:

Title/Position:

Email:

Phone (Office)

Phone (Cell/Professional):

Phone (Cell/Personal):

Site Address:

Degree(s):

Certification/Licensure (State & Licensure #)

Key Site Supervisor Information

- Site supervisors for students in the CMHC clinical sequence (e.g., COUN 601: Practicum, COUN 607: Internship I, & COUN 608: Internship II) must possess current and full licensure as a mental health professional in the State of Missouri (e.g., LPC, LCSW, LP, LMFT, MD) and a minimum of 2 years of professional experience consistent within the student's concentration area and role/responsibilities as a practicum/internship student at the site.
- 2. The Stephens College Counseling program requires the following documents from the site supervisor for approval as a site supervisor for CMHC practicum/internship students.
 - a. Copy of current/valid Missouri licensure as a mental health professional in Missouri
 - b. Copy of current resume/CV
- 3. Communication/consultation between the program-approved site supervisor and their supervisee's practicum/internship course instructor is expected throughout the practicum/internship semester. Acceptable methods of communication include:
 - a. In-person, face-to-face consultation.
 - b. Business/ personal telephone/cell numbers provided in this document.
 - c. Site supervisor's email address as provided in this document.
 - i. Note: Site supervisor must use the practicum/internship course instructor/faculty supervisor's official Stephens College email address for all electronic correspondence.
 - d. Digitally/online via the HIPAA-compliant Zoom feature in Supervision Assist*
 - i. Note: Site supervisors and course instructor/faculty supervisors are given complimentary access to Supervision Assist by the Stephens Counseling Program.
- 4. Communication/Consultation methods not indicated in (b) must be approved by the CMHC clinical coordinator prior to being employed.
- 5. Site supervisor and course instructor/faculty supervisor are expected to maintain ongoing communication throughout the semester, preferably at intervals of no more than two weeks.
- 6. Site Supervisor(s) agree to provide a minimum of one (1) hour of individual/triadic supervision to their supervisee per week.
 - a. Group Supervision is not a substitute for weekly individual/triadic supervision.
- 7. The site supervisor and course instructor will hold a minimum of one (1) face-to-face meeting (i.e. "site visit") with during the semester to discuss student learning and performance. A zoom meeting can be held in lieu of a face-to-face meeting when scheduling or geographic distance poses significant barriers.
- 8. The site supervisor and supervisee are required to complete the **Supervision Contract** for each course/semester by the third (3rd) week of the semester. Site supervisors should update this document as needed in collaboration with the supervisee.
- 9. The site supervisor is required to submit a mid-term and final assessments of their supervisee each semester. All student assessments are submitted electronically through Supervision Assist.

- a. Site Supervisors may submit additional written feedback using the **Supplemental Evaluation document** at any time during the semester, but not in place of the required mid-term and final evaluations.
- 10. Site supervisor(s) must be physically present at the approved site for the Stephens College Counseling student to provide in-person and/or telehealth services to any client/student at the approved site. No alteration to this mandate is allowed unless approved by the CMHC clinical coordinator.
- 11. Site Supervisors are required to review a minimum of three (3) recorded counseling sessions provided by their supervisee(s) each semester. If the supervisor's employer (e.g., site) does not allow the student to record a minimum of three (3) counseling sessions for required course presentations or supervision, the site supervisor must provide live supervision for a minimum of three (3) full counseling sessions. Supervisors must then complete/submit the *Live Supervision Assessment* for each supervision session. This form can be completed and submitted in Supervision Assist.
- 12. Site supervision via telehealth is allowed but must be approved by CMHC clinical coordinator. Further, all telehealth supervision must be conducted using the student's HIPAA-compliant zoom platform in their Supervision Assist account.
- 13. See Additional Site Supervisor Roles and Responsibilities.

Additional Site Supervisor Roles and Responsibilities

- 1. Holds a minimum of a master's degree in counseling or related profession, full licensure as a mental health provider in the State of Missouri, and minimum of two years professional experience.
- 2. Be aware of and follow guidelines as outlined in the Practicum and Internship Manual provided by the counseling program.
- 3. Review, verify, & sign all required student documentation (weekly logs, mid-term/final evaluations, etc.) in Supervision Assist in a timely manner.
- 4. Complete a Supervision Contract with the supervisee by the 3rd week of each academic semester & update when appropriate.
- 5. Be physically present on-site when a practicum/internship student is providing in-person/telehealth services; Practicum/internship student(s) are not allowed to engage in direct service activities absent an approved site supervisor (primary or secondary) being physically present on-site.
- 6. Uphold the policies in this manual.
- 7. Follow the Emergency Procedures policy outlined in the Practicum & Internship Handbook.
- 8. Respond promptly to all electronic communications from students, the course instructor/faculty supervisor, the program CMHC clinical coordinator, and/or the program director.
- 9. Weekly site-supervision can be held with the student's approved primary site supervisor via telehealth/zoom through supervisee's Stephens College Supervision Assist account or other program approved virtual platform (i.e., placement site's approved telehealth platform).
- 10. Provide minimum of one (1) hour of individual/triadic clinical supervision per week.
 - a. Group supervision is not a substitute for the 1 hour of individual/triadic supervision.
 - b. With CMHC/SC clinical coordinator written approval, site supervision may be provided via Supervision Assist protected Zoom. The degree to which Supervision Assist is utilized is determined by the CMHC clinical coordinator in collaboration with the site's program approved supervisor.

- 11. Review student documentation notes on a weekly basis and provide guidance and feedback on clinical documentation skills.
- 12. Review a minimum of 3 student recorded videos of the course of the semester.
- 13. Provide student opportunities to engage in the range of professional activities associated with the role of a licensed counselor (CMHC).
- 14. Provide & support opportunities for students to video and/or audio record direct service activities (i.e., individual/small group counseling, etc.) sessions using Stephens College counseling program's Supervision Assist** platform. (**HIPAA-compliant zoom)
- 15. Provide the student with adequate workspace, technology, office supplies, support staff and training necessary for all students to effectively conduct their expected roles and responsibilities while on-site.
- 16. Coordinate a replacement/secondary supervisor for student when necessary (vacations, personal leave, alternate site locations, etc.).
 - a. Students will not be allowed to gain direct hours absent a program-approved site supervisor being on-site.
- 17. Provide Counseling program with substantive mid-term and end-of-semester ("final") student assessments.
- 18. Conduct/document face-to-face review of mid-term/final evaluations with student.
- 19. Complete all required program, course, and site documentation in a timely and professional manner

Summary of Course Instructor/Faculty Supervisor Roles and Responsibilities

- 1. Follow program policies/procedures as stated in current Practicum and Internship Handbook.
- Communicate promptly with site supervisor and/or CMHC clinical coordinator regarding questions about direct/indirect hour documentation or other student, course, or site related issues/concerns.
- 3. Follow the Emergency Procedures policy outlined in the Practicum & Internship Handbook.
- 4. Respond promptly to all electronic communications from students, the site supervisor, the program CMHC clinical coordinator, and/or the program director.
- 5. Teach practicum/internship course(s) consistent with the course description(s) given in the Stephens College Graduate Catalogue and consistent with highest academic and ethical standards of the counseling profession.
- Provide a clear syllabus that adheres to the Counseling program's master framework and addresses all program and accreditation requirements detailed in the course syllabus.
- 7. Provide minimum of 1.5 hours of group supervision per week during regularly scheduled practicum/internship semesters (as defined by Stephens College Academic Calendar).
- 8. Review a minimum of 3 student video recorded individual and/or group counseling sessions per semester.
- 9. Model best practices ethical/professional behavior in the classroom/supervision contexts (Note: Adjunct instructors are considered a member and representative of the Stephens College Counseling program).
- 10. Complete and submit all required course assessments and other required documents in Supervision Assist prior to the final semester grade submission deadline.
- 11. Model and challenge students to be critical thinkers and reflective practitioners.
- 12. Model and ensure that student(s) and all relevant site stakeholders follow appropriate ethical and legal standards.
- 13. Complete weekly documentation review & approval for all students through Supervision Assist.
- 14. The site supervisor and course instructor will hold a minimum of one (1) face-to-face meeting (i.e. "site visit") with during the semester to discuss student learning and performance. A zoom meeting can be held in lieu of a face-to-face meeting when scheduling or geographic distance pose significant barriers.
- 15. Maintain ongoing communication (via Stephens College email) with site supervisor(s)-preferably at intervals of no more than 2 weeks.
 - a. Record communication using the "Site Supervisor & Course Instructor Communication" document.
- 16. Submit final course grades on time through Mystephens.
- 17. Assess all CACREP standards (KPI/non-KPI) using the Master Assessment Rubric that was developed in the Canvas course. (Program Director will provide instructions).
- 18. Complete and submit an end of semester Course Level Assessment (CLA) to the program director at the date request, including a minimum of two pieces of evidence showing student attainment of any course KPI attainment. An example CLA will be provided by the program director several weeks prior to the conclusion of the semester.

Summary of Practicum and Internship Student Roles and Responsibilities

- 1. Submit all required practicum/internship documentation in Supervision Assist by the deadline established by the Supervision Assist coordinator.
- 2. Engage with course instructor/faculty supervisor, site supervisor(s), peers (classmates), counseling faculty, and on-site fieldwork placement staff (administrative/clinical/facilities) in a professional/ethical manner.
- 3. Adhere American Counseling Association/American School Counseling Association ethical code(s).
- 4. Being punctual & prepared to/for all scheduled classes and case presentations.
- 5. Follow the Emergency Procedures policy outlined in the Practicum & Internship Handbook.
- 6. Respond promptly to all electronic communications from the course instructor/faculty supervisor, site supervisor, CMHC clinical coordinator, and/or the program director.
- 7. Provide onsite direct and indirect services (in-person and/or telehealth) only when approved primary/secondary site supervisor is physically present. Permission to conduct off-site indirect hours involving client information must have approval of CMHC coordinator and site supervisor.
- 8. Complete a minimum of 1 hour/wk. individual/triadic supervision with approved site supervisor.
 - a. Individual/triadic must avg 1 hr./week over per each practicum/internship semester.
- 9. Complete a minimum of 1.5 hours/week of group supervision per each practicum/internship semester
- 10. Being punctual & prepared to/for all site activities, including but not limited to:
 - a. All scheduled direct/indirect service, and individual/triadic service hours as scheduled with site supervisor..
 - b. Counseling sessions and other direct hour related activities.
 - c. Professional meetings/clinical staffing, or other activities required by the site supervisor.
- 11. Dress in a professional manner consistent with site policies.
 - a. Defer to "business casual" attire on site unless permission is provided by their site supervisor to dress in a more casual manner. Even then, Counseling students are expected to dress and behave in a manner one would expect of a counseling professional/representative of the Stephens College Counseling program.
- 12. Be and remain open to constructive feedback from clinical coordinator, peers, course instructor/faculty supervisor, site supervisors, and site staff, clients, and members of the community.
- 13. Always provide strength-based feedback.
- 14. Complete direct service hours only when approved site supervisor is physically present on site. Clarify issues immediately with course instructor/faculty supervisor, site supervisor(s), and/or CMHC program coordinator.
- 15. Complete all required program and site documentation in accordance with deadlines set by the counseling program, Supervision Assist coordinator, CMHC clinical coordinator, course instructor/faculty supervisor, and/or site supervisor(s).
- 16. Remain actively engaged in gaining direct/indirect service hours at the clinical site throughout the official Stephens College academic semester calendar, regardless of if minimal direct/indirect hours have been met prior to official end of the semester.

Emergency Procedures

Site supervisors, course instructors/faculty supervisors, and practicum and internship students are expected to act promptly in any situation where there is concern for the personal safety/security of the student and/or client (and other community members). The following section outlines the Stephens College Counseling Program's procedures and expectations for addressing emergency situations that may occur on-campus, at a practicum or internship placement site, and/or during telehealth service delivery.

Prior to or upon securing a fieldwork placement, the practicum/internship student should inquire about, carefully review, and follow the specific emergency plans of their intended fieldwork placement site. However, practicum/internship are expected to promptly consult with their site supervisor, course instructor (faculty supervisor), CMHC Clinical Coordinator, and/or Counseling Program Director whenever concerns arise about personal or client safety-or other issues that could negatively impact on the student, course, client(s), site, and/or site/faculty supervisors.

If uncertain about the appropriate program stakeholder to contact in a situation, the CMHC clinical coordinator should be promptly notified via email (<u>kshoge@stephens.edu</u>). The CMHC clinical coordinator will consult with the program director as needed to ensure the safety and security of students, site supervisors, course instructors/faculty supervisors, and community members.

Campus Safety and Security Information

Students and course instructors (faculty supervisors) are encouraged to download the Stephens Emergency Alerts via the LiveSafe App. This app provides up-to-date emergency information related to campus and community events, including weather-related emergencies. Additional information regarding campus safety and security can be found at <u>Safety & Security Services - Stephens College</u> or call **573-819-3690**.

Emergency Protocol: Practicum and Internship Students (assumes student is on-site)

Practicum and Internship Students

- Call 911 immediately in cases of danger to self or others. Once call is completed, promptly notify the Stephens College Safety and Security Office of the emergency, actions taken, and current response (i.e., 911 has been called, expecting (or not) police/fire/ambulance).
- After calling 911, promptly contact the site supervisor and provide an updated dispositional/situational assessment regarding the individual(s) involved.
- If the site supervisor is unavailable, immediately contact the Stephens Counseling Program, following this order:
 - 1. CMHC Clinical Coordinator
 - Dr. Kendra Shoge
 - Office: 573-876-7205 x 4205
 - Email: kshoge@stephens.edu
 - 2. Counseling Program Director
 - Dr. Dan Kissinger
 - Office: 573-876-7307 x 4307
 - Email: dkissinger@stephens.edu

Course Instructor/Faculty Supervisor

- Call 911 immediately in cases of danger to self or others. Once call is completed, promptly notify the Stephens College Safety and Security Office of the emergency, actions taken, and current response (i.e., 911 has been called, expecting (or not) police/fire/ambulance).
- After calling 911, promptly establish contact with the student's site supervisor and carbon copy (Cc) the CMHC clinical coordinator. The CMHC clinical coordinator may consult further with the program director.
- If the site supervisor is unavailable, immediately contact the Stephens Counseling Program, following this order:
 - 1. CMHC Clinical Coordinator
 - Dr. Kendra Shoge
 - Office: 573-876-7205 x 4205
 - Email: kshoge@stephens.edu

2. Counseling Program Director

Dr. Dan Kissinger

Office: 573-876-7307 x 4307

• Email: dkissinger@stephens.edu

Site Supervisor

Call 911 immediately in cases of danger to self or others.

• After calling 911, promptly establish contact with the student's course instructor/faculty supervisor and carbon copy (Cc) the CMHC clinical coordinator. The CMHC clinical coordinator may consult further with the program director.

• If the course instructor/faculty supervisor is unavailable, promptly establish contact with the

Stephens Counseling program, following this order:

- 1. CMHC Clinical Coordinator
 - Dr. Kendra Shoge
 - Office: 573-876-7205 x 4205
 - Email: kshoge@stephens.edu
- 2. Counseling Program Director
 - Dr. Dan Kissinger
 - Office: 573-876-7307 x 4307
 - Email: dkissinger@stephens.edu

Telehealth

Prior to engaging in telehealth-based services to clients, practicum/internship students are required to have the minimal following information.

- Verified program Telehealth consent form
- Current client phone number (and emergency contact person/contact information whenever possible).
- Address and phone number of nearest hospital/ER to the location where client is engaging in telehealth services with the student.
- List of emergency contact and helpline numbers (phone/text) for the client, to minimally include:
 - o Missouri Crisis Line:
 - Text HAND to 839-863
 - Call: 1-888-761-4357
 - o Burrell Central MO Crisis Line: 800-395-2132
 - National Suicide Prevention Line: 800-273-8255
 - Trevor Project for LGBTQ Youth: 866-488-7386

Attestation

Practicum/Internship Student:	Date:
Field Experience Supervisor ("Site Supervisor"):	Date:
CMHC Clinical Coordinator:	Date:



Counseling Program

Telehealth Consent

The Counseling program recognizes the increasing use of telehealth services for both direct and indirect client care. As such, the following policies have been designed to broaden student options for gaining supervised direct/indirect hours through telehealth/online platforms. School Counseling practicum and internship students will be required to follow all telehealth guidelines instituted by the school and/or school district in which they are serving as a practicum/internship student. It should be noted that any decisions made by the Counseling program director regarding student provision of telehealth services at a program approved CMHC and/or SC practicum/internship site are final.

- 1. All clinical sites for the clinical mental health counseling specialization (CMHC) have been approved by the Counseling program's CMHC clinical coordinator.
- 2. All clinical sites/schools for the school counseling specialization (SC) have been approved by the SC clinical coordinator.
- 3. The approved clinical site supervisor(s)/administrator(s)/practice owner(s) has/have clearly demonstrated to the appropriate clinical coordinator that telehealth services are an **essential and primary** part of client care at their agency, office, or organization.
 - a. The Stephens College Counseling program defines "primary" as an approved site where a minimum of 60% of direct care client services are designed as telehealth services.
 - b. For example, an approved site that has an established and verifiable record of their licensed counselors (or LCSWs, etc.) using home-based telehealth services as the organization's primary (i.e., >60% of direct client care hours) means of direct client service provision.
- 4. The approved clinical site supervisor/administrator(s)/practice owner(s) has/have clearly demonstrated to the clinical coordinator that their site provides direct/indirect telehealth services to clients through a secure telehealth platform or will allow the student to utilize the Supervision Assist, the Stephens Counseling program's HIPAA compliant platform.
- 5. The Stephens Counseling student has completed & submitted the *Telehealth Consent* document with all appropriate signatures/dates.
- 6. Unless approved by the appropriate clinical coordinator, Counseling students are <u>NOT</u> allowed to provide direct services (i.e., direct hours) to clients outside of the physical location of the approved site. This includes in-person and telehealth formats.
- 7. A program approved site supervisor will, minimally, be <u>immediately</u> available via secure phone/zoom link to the Counseling student for supervision/consultation in all circumstances where a Counseling student is providing direct/indirect client care through telehealth <u>at the site's physical location</u>.

- 8. In <u>limited</u> cases approved only by the <u>director of the Counseling program</u>, Counseling students may be approved to provide telehealth services outside of the approved site's physical location. Such approval is required <u>prior to</u> the Counseling student providing any telehealth services. A student found in violation of this rule may face immediate disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from the Stephens Counseling program.
- 9. As part of required course assessment, Counseling students are expected to record direct service sessions using their HIPAA aligned Supervision Assist clinical software platform.
- 10. Students <u>must immediately inform</u> both their practicum/internship course instructor and the appropriate CMHC/SC clinical coordinator(s) if a site mandates use of a different system for the provision of telehealth direct care services. When notified, the CMHC clinical coordinators will resolve any differences directly with the site supervisor(s)/administrator(s).

Attestation

I have reviewed and agree to the telehealth guidelines for individual/triadic supervision as stated above.	or direct and indirect service hour provision and/or
Stephens Counseling: Student:	
Primary Site Supervisor:	Date:
Secondary Site Supervisor:	Date:
Clinical Coordinator/	
Program Director (PRN):	Date:



Counseling Program

Supervision Contract

This contract serves as a description of the cli (site supervisor) to	inical & admi	nistrative supervisio student/su)	n to be provided by pervisee) for the entirety	
of their placement at		for the	semester of	
and for the dates of	to	•		
Professional Disclosure of Site Supervisor (academic/professional credentials, clinical training	r: g (synopsis), su	pervision theory/ies use	d, ethical code(s) followed).	

I. Structure of Supervision:

- a. Documentation of supervision hours will be logged by supervisee in Supervision Assist.
- b. Individual Supervision can be conducted in individual or triadic formats.
- c. A minimum of one (1) hour of individual/triadic supervision is expected per week. Total individual/triadic hours must average 1 hr. per week per current practicum/internship semester.
 - a. Group supervision (3 + supervisees) is welcomed but is not a substitute for the required one (1) hour of weekly individual or triadic supervision.
 - b. On-site group supervision hours are encouraged but cannot substitute for group hours in semester practicum (COUN 601) and internship (COUN 607/COUN 608) courses, respectively.
- d. Individual and Group Supervision will be conducted at a time/setting that assures confidentiality.
- e. Individual and Group Supervision will be provided only in the format (i.e., in-person/tele supervision) approved by the student's concentration area clinical coordinator.
- f. Modalities used may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Individual/triadic supervision, Group Supervision, live supervision, telesupervision (using Supervision Assist), case review (audio/video), documentation review, and review of empirical data.

Evaluation Method: П.

- Consistent formative supervision is expected to be utilized by the site supervisor throughout the semester.
- b. The primary site supervisor(s) and supervisee are required to review together the site supervisor's mid-term and final assessments and the student's self-assessments

III.	Supervision	Goals &	Objectives	(in	collaboration	with	supervi	sor)
------	-------------	---------	------------	-----	---------------	------	---------	------

c.	Student/supervisee has a right to respond in writing to all site supervisor(s) written assessments.
Sı	upervision Goals & Objectives (in collaboration with supervisor)
G	oal I:
	Objective I:
	Objective II:
G	oal II:
	Objective I:
	Objective II:
G	roal III:
	Objective I:
	Objective II:
G	oal IV:
	Objective I:
	Objective II:
G	Goal V:
	Objective I:
	Objective II:
A	attestation
() S	Primary) Site Supervisor: Date: Supervisee: Date:



Counseling Program

Holiday & Inclement Weather

Counseling Program Policy

Stephens College Counseling students placed at clinical/school practicum and internship sites cannot, according to Stephens College policy, be required to work on official Stephens College holidays/student breaks* and/or when Stephens College is closed per inclement weather. However, with approval of the student's program-approved practicum/internship site supervisor(s), course instructor, and concentration clinical coordinator, the student can provide direct and indirect services at their approved practicum/internship during official Stephens College holidays/student breaks* and/or when Stephens College is closed per inclement weather.

*Official Stephens College holidays/student breaks are based on the current Stephens College official Academic Calendar posted on the Stephens College website.

Student Attestation

I understand the policy above, have discussed the policy with my site supervisor and course instructor, and will comply fully with the policy. I will provide direct and/or indirect services to clients/students at my currently approved site-and under the supervision of only my currently approved site supervisor(s) who have signed/dated this document. Further, I understand this document is valid only during the dates identified below and only in the format I am currently approved for by the program (i.e., inperson/telehealth).

• Site:	
 Stephens College Holiday/Break (per C 	Official Stephens College Academic Calendar):
Dates of Service Provision:	to
agree to allow, a currently under my supervision, to provide dia at my organization/school during the date(s)	I the policy and implications with this supervisee, and current Stephens College Counseling program student rect and/or indirect counseling services to clients/students listed above and only in the format agreed upon with the /telehealth counseling &/or supervision). Further, I will inator via email and/or text immediately if concerns arise
Site Supervisor (primary): Site Supervisor (Secondary/prn):	
Course Instructor:Clinical Coordinator:	



Site Supervisor/Instructor Communication & Site Visit Summary

Please d	locument all forms of co	mmunication between site supervisor & course ins	tructor.
Course/	Semester:		
Student	Name:		
Site:			
Site Sup	ervisor (Primary):		
Site Sup	ervisor (Secondary):		
Date	Topic		
Date	Format (email, phone, zoom, in-person)	Topic(s) Discussed	Action Taken

Site Visit Summary

Studen	t Name:
Concen	tration:
Course	instructor:
Site:	
Site Sup	pervisor Met with on Visit:
Please enhanc	respond yes/no to each question <u>and</u> provide appropriate written detail in space provided to e program improvement and development.
1.	The site supervisor provides required minimum 1hr of individual/triadic supervision: Yes No
2.	The site supervisor completes and submits required documentation: Yes No
3.	The site supervisor provides adequate, safe, and confidential office space for the student to conduct in-person and/or telehealth counseling services: Yes No
4.	The site supervisor reviews and provides feedback to supervisee through Supervision Assist, Live supervision, or another program approved, HIPPA compliant program: Yes No
5.	The site supervisor made the following recommendation(s) for the supervisee:
6.	The site supervisor made the following recommendation(s) for the Counseling program:
7.	The site supervisor requested assistance in the following area(s):
8.	Summary (w/eye on student development and program improvement/development)



Counseling Program

Informed Consent

Dear (potential client or parent/guardian/legal representative):

Your counselor (herein referred to as student or counseling student(s)) is an advanced graduate-level counseling student who has completed the majority of their required coursework for a graduate degree in Counseling with a specialization in clinical mental health counseling or School Counseling from Stephens College. As part of their training program, Stephens College counseling students are required to participate in on-the-job training during which they provide direct and indirect counseling services under the supervision of experienced, fully licensed mental health professionals and/or certified school counselors. In addition, Stephens College students, faculty, and site supervisors are expected to abide by the American Counseling Association's Code of Ethics (ACA, 2014) and all applicable laws and guidelines governing the provision of mental health services (e.g., counseling) and school counseling in the State of Missouri.

Confidentiality/Privacy

Adult Clients

All recorded sessions are considered confidential and will be protected by the student counselor in keeping with all applicable laws and ethics (i.e., HIPAA, FERPA, State of Missouri, and American Counseling Association). Confidentiality may be breached only under the concerns noted below or when required by law. Moreover, as a client you (the adult client) or the minor client maintain "privilege", which means you may provide your student counselor with permission to provide detail(s) of your care or the care of the minor client to a party you designate. This process requires the request be documented in a document known as a "release of information". Your student counselor can explain this process to you in more depth upon request.

During the time working with a Stephens Counseling student, the student is also enrolled in a practicum or internship course in their concentration area (e.g., clinical mental health counseling and/or CMHC counseling) where they receive weekly group supervision from a faculty member/licensed mental health professional (CMHC) or doctoral level counselor educator and/or certified CMHC counselor. Additionally, each student receives a minimum of 1 week of individual or triadic supervision with a site supervisor who is a fully licensed mental health professional (CMHC) or fully certified CMHC counselor in the State of Missouri.

While confidentiality is critical to the therapeutic alliance and process, it is important to know there are **limits to confidentiality.** These include, but are not limited to:

- 1. When a client is determined to be a danger to him/herself or others.
- 2. When the counselor perceives there may be child or elder abuse and/or neglect.
- 3. In the event of a subpoena or court order.

Parent(s)/Legal Guardian(s) of Minor Client

All recorded sessions are considered confidential and will be protected by the student counselor in keeping with all applicable laws and ethics (i.e., HIPAA, FERPA, State of Missouri, American Counseling Association, and/or American School Counselor Association). Confidentiality may be breached only under the concerns noted below or when required by law. Moreover, as a minor client receiving counseling services, the parent(s)/legal guardian(s) of the minor client, maintain "privilege", which means you may provide your student counselor with permission to provide detail(s) of the care of the minor client to a party you designate for clinical counseling services, which are typically not provided in the school setting.

For educational counseling services, the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) provides that individually identifiable student records are confidential and cannot be disclosed without consent of the parent/legal guardian (or student if over the age of 18). The student counselor has no authority to release any personally identifiable student information and will refer all requests to the School District's administration. This process requires the request be documented in a document known as a "release of information". Your student counselor can explain this process to you in more depth upon request.

During the time working with a Stephens Counseling student, the student is also enrolled in a practicum or internship course in their concentration area (e.g., clinical mental health counseling and/or school counseling) where they receive weekly group supervision from a faculty member/licensed mental health professional (CMHC) or doctoral level counselor educator and/or certified school counselor. Additionally, each student receives a minimum of 1 week of individual or triadic supervision with a site supervisor who is a fully licensed mental health professional (CMHC) or fully certified school counselor in the State of Missouri.

While confidentiality is critical to the therapeutic alliance and process, it is important to know there are **limits to confidentiality.** These include, but are not limited to:

- 1. When a client is determined to be a danger to him/herself or others.
- 2. When the counselor perceives there may be child or elder abuse and/or neglect.
- 3. In the event of a subpoena or court order.

Mandated Reporter

It is also important to note that your student counselor, their site supervisor, and the student counselor's course instructor and classmates are **mandated reporters**. In other words, each is required by state law to report suspected abuse and/or neglect to the proper authorities in accordance with the laws of the State of Missouri.

Audio & Video Recording of Counseling Sessions

The Stephens College Counseling program uses *Supervision Assist* for audio/video recording student counseling sessions. *Supervision Assist* is a HIPAA-compliant platform. As a client, you have several options related to the audio/video recording of your session.

Your student counselor's training requires that they demonstrate their counseling knowledge and skills by providing their course instructor and clinical supervisor with work samples during each practicum and internship semester. Importantly, the primary purpose of recording sessions is to monitor the quality of client care and enhance the student counselor's professional development. Please note the following guidelines surrounding the audio-visual recording of counseling session by Stephens Counseling practicum and internship students (e.g., student counselor).

- a. As part of their training, student counselors are required to submit audio-visual recordings of counseling sessions to their course instructor over the course of the semester.
- b. In <u>all</u> cases, student counselors are required to request and gain written permission from <u>all</u> adult clients and/or the parent(s) and/or legal guardian(s) of <u>all</u> minors/protected populations prior to conducting video and/or audio recorded counseling sessions.
- **c.** Clients and/or parents/legal guardian(s) may agree to appear (or for their minor/protected individual) to appear on **both** the audio and video elements of the counseling session with a student counselor.
 - a. Student counselor will stop video and/or audio recording an active session at the request of the client and/or parent/legal guardian.
- d. Clients and/or parents/legal guardian(s) may agree to appear (or for their minor/protected individual) to be audio-recorded only during a counseling session with the student counselor*.
 - a. *Unless explicitly prohibited by the client and/or parent/legal guardian, the student counselor will remain on-camera. However, the clients(s) will <u>not</u> be video recorded at any time. If the student is unable to be fully isolated on the video due to room arrangements (i.e., small room), the video will be deactivated to ensure only audio is recorded.
 - **b.** Student counselor will stop video and/or audio recording an active session at the request of the client and/or parent/legal guardian.
- e. Clients and/or parents/legal guardian(s) may choose to <u>not</u> allow the student counselor to audio/video record the session*.
 - a. *When video and/or audio recordings of sessions are not permitted, student counselors are required to receive "live supervision" from a fully licensed mental health professional (i.e., CMHC students) or certified CMHC counselor (i.e., CMHC students) a minimum of 3 times* per semester. During live supervision, the student's program approved site supervisor and/or practicum/course instructor will be directly observing the student and client's counseling session. This may include the approved site supervisor/course instructor being present in the room, in an adjacent room (with two-way mirrors for observation) or via a HIPAA compliant zoom link) during the counseling session.

(Signature of Client)	(Date)
(Signature of Client's Parent or Guardian, if applicable)	(Date)
(Signature of Chent's Parent of Guardian, if application)	(25,000)

<u>f</u>



Counseling Program

Honorarium

Dear Site Supervisor,

The Stephens College Counseling program thanks you for the expertise and mentorship you provided to our student this semester. In appreciation, the Stephens Counseling program provides primary* site supervisors with an honorarium of \$150 per semester for each program-approved student. To receive this honorarium, please complete the form below along with a W-9 tax form. By signing and submitting these forms, you verify the information below is true and accurate.

*Primary site supervisor is defined by the program as the site supervisor who was approved as the primary site supervisor by the Stephens Counseling program and who, over the course of the semester, has provided, minimally, a majority of the student's clinical supervision during the semester. This includes but is not limited to weekly individual/triadic supervision, reviewing/signing student documentation, and submitting all required student performance/dispositional assessments.

If a program-approved secondary site supervisor has provided 25% or more of clinical/administrative supervision over the course of the semester, the program reserves the right to prorate the \$150 honorarium to ensure all site supervisors are honored for their time and expertise. In such cases, it is the responsibility of the practicum/internship student to formally request that their program-approved secondary site supervisor receive a percentage of the \$150 honorarium payment <u>and</u> at what proportion (e.g., 25%) of the \$150 stipend.

Note: The secondary site supervisor noted below is required to complete all honorarium documentation to receive payment.

Student name:
Clinical Mental Health Counseling Course (select one):
1. COUN 601: Practicum
2. COUN 607: CMHC Internship I
3. COUN 608: CMHC Internship II
School Counseling Concentration Course (select one):
1. COUN 602: SC Practicum & Behavioral Strategies
2. COUN 603: SC Internship I
3. COUN 604: SC Internship II
Semester: Fall 20 Spring 20 Summer 20
Full Name of Primary Site Supervisor (must include middle initial)
Mailing Address:

Email Address:		
W-9: I have W-9 on file with Stephens College (w/in 24 months of this request):	Yes No	
*If no, I have submitted a W-9 form with this document: YesNo		
Attestation		
Signature of Primary Site Supervisor	Date:	
Signature of Counseling Program Director	Date	
Secondary Site Supervisor Information (Required if any % of stipend is provided)		
Student name:	•	
Clinical Mental Health Counseling Course (select one): 4. COUN 601: Practicum 5. COUN 607: CMHC Internship I 6. COUN 608: CMHC Internship II School Counseling Concentration Course (select one): 4. COUN 602: SC Practicum & Behavioral Strategies 5. COUN 603: SC Internship I 6. COUN 604: SC Internship II		
Semester: Fall 20 Spring 20 Summer 20		
Full Name of Secondary Site Supervisor (must include middle initial)		
Mailing Address:		
Email Address:		
W-9: I have W-9 on file with Stephens College (w/in 24 months of this request):	Yes No	
*If no, I have submitted a W-9 form with this document: Yes No		
Attestation		
Signature of Secondary Site Supervisor	Date:	
Signature of Counseling Program Director	Date	



Attestation

Date:	•
I,, have received a	
Counseling program's current practicum/internship	ip manual specific to the course I am enrolled
in, (i.e., COUN 601, COUN 607) for	(i.e., Fall 2024). I understand
that it is my responsibility to make myself aware	
of the manual. I also understand that my failure to	o do so may result in an unsuccessful grade fo
this course as well as my possible removal from t	he course and/or Counseling program.
Student's Signature	Date
Instructor Signature	Date

Stephens College Counseling Program

STIPEND AGREEMENT

Practicum and Internship

Student Name:			
Program: Stephens College Master of Education (M.Ed.)			
Stipend Amount:			
•	ees to award a stipend of (<i>AMOUNT</i>) to (<i>STUDENT</i>), Counseling degree at Stephens College, for the		
costs incurred during the internship and/or	nsation to assist the intern in covering per diem for activities carried out under the administrative n's program-approved fieldwork site supervisor (i.e. nent periods indicated above.		
Attestation			
Student Signature	Date		
Fieldwork Site Supervisor	Date		
CMHC Coordinator	Date		

I■ Form Details

X 3

Supervision Assist

ASSESSMENT CATEGORY

Trainee

SUBMITTER ROLES

Supervisor, Faculty Supervisor — Your CURRENT ROLE IS COORDINATOR

REVIEWER ROLES

Supervisor, Faculty Supervisor, Coordinator, Trainee

Hide Preview

This is a preview. Only a supervisor and faculty supervisor can submit this form.

CMHC -	Site	Super	visor	& (Course	Instructor	Assessment
--------	------	-------	-------	-----	--------	------------	------------

Site Supervisor & Course Instructor Assessment Clinical Mental Health Counseling		
Student's Name:		
Evaluation Time Frame (e.g., FA 2024):		
Evaluation Type:		
O Mid-Semester		
O End-of-Semester		
Evaluator's First and Last Name:		
Course Instructor		
Enter Course Name and Number in Space Below:	, con any gummand or produced protection by the congress of the congress of the confidence defined by	
Practicum Site Supervisor:		
Internship Site Supervisor:	a variation of the same of	
Directions: Please rate the CIT on a series of attributes comprising the following three categories: Counseling Skills and t	the Therapeutic	

Alliance; Professional Counseling and Personal Dispositions; and Case Conceptualization and Treatment Planning.

For every attribute, the rating scale ranges from "4" to "1." A rating of "4" indicates the CIT exceeds expectations, while a rating of "1" indicates the CIT does not meet expectations. The rating system also includes an option indicating the attribute does not apply to the CIT's work--or the evaluator did not observe the CIT demonstrate the attribute. Space for detailed, specific comments follows each set of rating-scale items,

- 4--Exceeds Expectations: The CIT displays the described counseling knowledge, skills(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s) in a manner that is clearly and consistently above the expected CIT proficiency/developmental level.
- 3--Meets Expectations: The CIT displays the described counseling knowledge, skill(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s) in a manner that consistently meets the expected CIT proficiency/developmental level.

2Minimally Meets Expectations: The CIT displays the described counseling knowledge, skill(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s) in a manner that minimally meets the expected CIT proficiency/developmental level. 1Does Not Meet Expectations: The CIT displays insufficient ability relative to the described counseling knowledge, skill(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s); ability does not meet the minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level. 0Not Applicable/Observed: The evaluator did not observe the CIT demonstrating the described attribute; or, the attribute was not applicable.		
Counseling Skills and the Therapeutic Alliance		
The next 11 items ask you to rate and provide written feedback about the CIT's competencies pertaining to "Counseling Skills and the Therapeutic Alliance."		
Nonverbal Skills: Use of body position/affect, eye contact, use of silence to engage client/build the therapeutic alliance		
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to utilize nonverbal skills to develop quality working alliance, facilitate dialogue, and create safe counseling setting for client/student that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level		
O 3: Meets Expectations—Displays ability to utilize nonverbal skills to develop quality working alliance, facilitate dialogue, and create safe counseling setting for client/student consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level		
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to utilize nonverbal skills to develop quality working alliance, facilitate dialogue and create safe counseling setting for client/student consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level		
1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to utilize nonverbal skills to develop quality working alliance, facilitate dialogue, and create safe counseling setting for client/student outcomes consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level		
O: Not Applicable/ObservedNot applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess		
Use of Minimal Encouragers: Use of minimal verbal/nonverbal encouragers to engage client/build the therapeutic alliance		
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to use verbal and/or nonverbal encouragers to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes that are clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level		
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to use verbal and/or nonverbal encouragers to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling /student outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level		
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to use verbal and/or nonverbal encouragers to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level		
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use verbal and /or nonverbal encouragers to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling /student outcomes consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level		
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess		
Open- and Closed-Ended Questions: Use of open- and closed-ended questions		
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to use open- and closed-ended questions to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes that are clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level		
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to use open- and closed-ended questions to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level		

O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to use open- and closed-ended questions to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use open- and closed-ended questions to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
araphrasing/Reflection of Content: Use of paraphrasing/reflection of content
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to accurately interpret and reflect content of a client's/student's statement/story that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to accurately interpret and reflect content of client/student statement/story consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to accurately interpret and reflect content of client/student statement/story consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to accurately interpret and reflect content of client/student statement/story consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Reflection of Feeling: Use of reflection of feelings
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to accurately identify and reflect emotional content with a client/student that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to accurately identify and reflect emotional content with a client/student consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to accurately identify and reflect emotional content with a client/student consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 1: Does Not Meet Expectations—Displays insufficient ability to accurately identify and reflect emotional content with a client/student consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Summarizing: Use of summarization to identify/clarify key themes
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to use summarization skill to clarify/identify key elements/themes in client/student narratives that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to use summarization skill to clarify /identify key elements/themes in client/student narratives consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to use summarization skill to clarify/identify key elements/themes in client/student narratives consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
1: Does Not Meet Expectations: Displays insufficient ability to use summarization skill to clarify/identify key elements/themes in client/student narratives consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency developmental level
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Confrontation: Use of confrontation to challenge and assess discrepancies
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to use skill of confrontation to challenge and assess discrepancies that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level

	 3: Meets Expectations—Displays ability to use skill of confrontation to challenge and assess discrepancies consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to use skill of confrontation to challenge and assess discrepancies consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use of skill of confrontation to challenge and assess discrepancies consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Fo	ocusing: Use of focusing skills to facilitate development or clarification of client/student issue(s)
,	O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to use focusing skills to facilitate development or clarification of client/student issues(s) that are clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to use focusing skills to facilitate development or clarification of client/student issue(s) consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to use focusing skills to facilitate development or clarification of client/student issue(s) consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use focusing skills to facilitate development or clarification of client/student issue(s) consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
	mpathy, non-judgmental attitude, and unconditional positive regard: Use of empathy, non-judgmental attitude, and nonditional positive regard to foster positive alliance and counseling outcomes O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays use of empathy, non-judgmental attitude and unconditional positive regard to foster positive alliance and counseling outcomes that is clearly and consistently above the expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays use of empathy, non-judgmental attitude and unconditional positive regard to foster positive alliance and counseling outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable use of empathy, non-judgmental attitude and unconditional positive regard to foster positive alliance and counseling outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use empathy, non-judgmental attitude and unconditional positive regard to foster positive alliance and counseling outcomes consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
T	herapeutic Working Alliance (Bordin, 1979): Development and maintenance of quality Therapeutic Working Alliance
	O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to develop and maintain a quality therapeutic alliance that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to develop and maintain a quality therapeutic alliance consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to develop and maintain a quality therapeutic alliance consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to develop and maintain a quality therapeutic alliance consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess

In the space below, please provide specific feedback about the CIT's abilities pertaining to "Counseling Skills and the Therapeutic Alliance."			
Professional Counseling and Personal Dispositions			
The next 13 items ask you to rate and provide written feedback about the CIT's abilities pertaining to "Professional Counseling and Personal Dispositions."			
Ethical Behavior: Behavior and decision making that aligns with ACA, ASCA, and NBCC ethical guidelines			
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ethical behavior and decision-making that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level			
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ethical behavior and decision-making consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level			
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ethical behavior and decision-making consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level			
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ethical behavior and decision-making consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level			
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess			
Professionalism/Behavior: Behavior toward instructors, supervisors, peers, and clients (and others)			
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays behavior toward instructors, supervisors, peers, clients, and others that is clearly and consistently well-above the expected current ethical standards and professional expectations of the Counseling Program, the site, and the profession			
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays behavior toward instructors, supervisors, peers, clients, and others that is consistent with the current ethical standards and professional expectations of the Counseling Program, the site, and the profession			
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays behavior toward instructors, supervisors, peers, clients, and others that minimally meets the current ethical standards and professional expectations of the Counseling Program, the site, and the profession			
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays behavior toward instructors, supervisors, peers, clients, and others that does not meet the current ethical standards and professional expectations of the Counseling Program, the site, and the profession			
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess			
Professional and Personal Boundaries			
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays personal and professional boundaries with instructors, supervisors, peers, clients/students, and all others that clearly and consistently exceed expected CIT behavior			
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays personal and professional boundaries with instructors, supervisors, peers, clients/students, and all others that are consistent with expected CIT behavior			
 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays personal and professional boundaries with instructors, supervisors, peers, clients/students, and all others that are minimally consistent with expected CIT behavior 			
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays personal and professional boundaries with instructors, supervisors, peers, clients/students, and all others that are inconsistent with minimally expected CIT behavior			

O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity observe and/or assess
Site and Course Policies: Knowledge and behaviors concerning course, program, and/or site policies
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsAlways displays knowledge of course, program, and/or site policies; always behaves in manner consistent with course, program, and/or site policies
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays knowledge of course, program, and/or site policies, and behaves in manner consistent with all course, program, and/or site policies.
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally appropriate knowledge of course, program, and/or site policies, and behaves in a manner consistent with some course, program, and/or site policies
O 1: Does Not Meet Expectations: Displays insufficient knowledge of course, program, and/or site policies, and behaves in a manner that is inconsistent with course, program, and/or site policies
O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Documentation: Completes required course and/or site documentation on time and according to stated course and/or site
O 4: Exceeds Expectations—Always completes required course and/or site documentation on time and according to stated guidelines, above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 3: Meets ExpectationsCompletes required course and/or site documentation on time and according to stated guidelines, consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsCompletes course and/or site documentation on time, according to stated guidelines, and is minimally consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet Expectations—Does not/insufficiently complete(s) required documentation on time and according to stated guidelines, in a manner that is inconsistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Multicultural Competence/Humility: Awareness and ability to show respect/humility with and across diverse client/student settings and populations
 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays multicultural competence/humility with and across diverse client/student settings and populations above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays multicultural competence/humility with and across diverse client/student settings and populations consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays multicultural competence/humility with and across diverse client/student settings and populations consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays multicultural competence/humility with and across diverse client/school settings and populations that is inconsistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Emotional Stability/Regulation: Emotional maturity and stability.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays emotional maturity and ability to self-regulate emotions with peers, instructors, supervisors, and others above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays emotional maturity and ability to self-regulate emotions with peers, instructors, supervisors, and others consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level

 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays emotional maturity and ability to self-regulate emotions with peers, instructors, supervisors, and others that is consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level 	
 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays emotional maturity and ability to self-regulate emotions with peers, instructors, supervisors, and others that is inconsistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level 	
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess	
Personal and Professional Growth: Engagement and initiative regarding personal growth and professional development.	
 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays engagement and initiative toward personal growth and professional development above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level 	
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays engagement and initiative toward personal growth and professional development consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level 	
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays engagement and initiative toward personal growth and professional development that is consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays engagement and initiative toward personal growth and professional development that is inconsistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess	
Feedback: Willingness to seek out, provide, respond to, and integrate feedback from peers, instructors, supervisors, and clients in a strength-based, professional manner.	
O 4: Exceeds Expectations—Displays ability to seek out, provide, receive and integrate feedback from peers, instructors, supervisors, and clients in a strength-based, professional manner above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to seek out, provide, receive and/or integrate feedback from peers, instructors, supervisors, and/or clients in a strength-based, professional manner consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level 	
O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays ability to seek out, provide, receive and/or integrate feedback from peers, instructors, supervisors, and/or clients in a strength-based, professional manner that is consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	
① 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays ability to seek out, provide, receive and/or integrate feedback from peers, instructors, supervisors, and clients in a strength-based, professional manner that is inconsistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	
① 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess	
Adaptableness: Ability to respond/adapt to relational, environmental, and/or procedural changes in classroom and/or clinical/school settings.	
 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to effectively respond/adapt to relational, environmental, and/or procedural changes in classroom and/or clinical/school settings above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level 	
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to effectively respond/adapt to relational, environmental, and/or procedural changes in classroom and/or clinical/school settings consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to effectively respond/adapt to relational, environmental, and/or procedural changes in classroom and/or clinical/school settings consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	
① 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to effectively respond/adapt to relational, environmental, and/or procedural changes in classroom and/or clinical/school settings in a manner that is consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess	

ienuineness: Non-judgmental acceptance of self and others.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to be accepting of self and others in personal and/or professional settings above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to be accepting of self and others in personal and/or professional settings consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to be accepting of self and others in personal and/or professional settings consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet Expectations—Displays insufficient ability to be accepting of self and others in personal and/or professional settings consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Personal Wellness: Openness to and engagement in advocating for the holistic wellness of self, clients, and others.
O 4: Exceeds Expectations—Displays openness to and engagement in advocating for the holistic wellness of self, clients, and others above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays openness to and engagement in advocating for the holistic wellness of self, clients, and others consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays openness to and engagement in advocating for the holistic wellness of self, clients, and others that is consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays openness to and engagement in advocating for the holistic wellness of self, clients, and others that is inconsistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
n the space below, please provide specific feedback about the CIT's abilities pertaining to "Professional Counseling and Personal Dispositions."
Case Conceptualization and Treatment Planning
The next 10 items ask you to rate and provide written feedback about the CIT's abilities pertaining to "Case Conceptualization and Treatment Planning."
Clinical Interview/Intake: Use of Clinical Interview/Intake to gather information necessary for a formulation of a diagnostic mpression.
 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to conduct an effective clinical intake/interview necessary to formulate a diagnostic impression above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to conduct an effective clinical intake/interview necessary to formulate a diagnostic impression consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to conduct an effective clinical intake/interview necessary to formulate a diagnostic impression consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to conduct an effective clinical intake/interview necessary to formulate a diagnostic impression consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level

O: Not applicable or no oppo	rtunity to observe and/or assess
Diagnostic Impression: Use of	current DSM to formulate accurate diagnostic impression.
4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisexpected CIT proficiency/develor	splays ability to use current DSM to formulate clinically accurate diagnostic impression above pmental level
3: Meets ExpectationsDisp expected CIT proficiency/develo	lays ability to use current DSM to formulate clinically accurate diagnostic impression consistent with pmental level
 2: Minimally Meets Expectate consistent with minimally expectate 	ionsDisplays ability to use current DSM to formulate clinically accurate diagnostic impression cted CIT proficiency/developmental level
 1: Does Not Meet Expectation impression consistent with minimal 	nsDisplays insufficient ability to use current DSM to formulate clinically accurate diagnostic mally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	rtunity to observe and/or assess
S.M.A.R.T. Goals: Collaborative	e design, use, and assessment of S.M.A.R.T. goals.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDi expected CIT proficiency/develo	splays ability to engage in the collaborative design, use, and assessment S.M.A.R.T goals above opmental level
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisp with expected CIT proficiency/d 	olays ability to engage in the collaborative design, use, and assessment of S.M.A.R.T goals consistent evelopmental level
 2: Minimally Meets Expectate consistent with minimally expe 	ionsDisplays ability to engage in the collaborative design, use, and assessment of S.M.A.R.T goals cted CIT proficiency/developmental level
① 1: Does Not Meet Expectation S.M.A.R.T goals consistent with	onsDisplays insufficient ability to engage in the collaborative design, use, and assessment of n minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	ortunity to observe and/or assess
Outcome Measures: Creation of S.M.A.R.T. goals.	of collaborative and measurable treatment goals/objectives that align with established
() 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDiestablished S.M.A.R.T. goals at	isplays ability to create collaborative and measurable treatment goals/objectives that align with pove expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
3: Meets ExpectationsDisp established S.M.A.R.T. goals co	plays ability to create collaborative and measurable treatment goals/objectives that align with proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets Expecta with established S.M.A.R.T. go:	tionsDisplays ability to create collaborative and measurable treatment goals/objectives that align als consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
1: Does Not Meet Expectation that align with established S.M.	onsDisplays insufficient ability to create collaborative and measurable treatment goals/objectives I.A.R.T. goals consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
	ortunity to observe and/or assess
and the second s	lentification and use of evidence-based counseling in treatment planning and counseling
4: Exceeds ExpectationsD direct client care above expect	isplays ability to identify and use evidence-based counseling strategies in treatment planning and ed CIT proficiency/developmental level
3: Meets ExpectationsDis	plays ability to identify and use evidence-based counseling strategies in treatment planning and direct

 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays ability to identify and use evidence-based counseling strategies consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to identify and use evidence-based counseling strategies consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Stages of Change: Accurate identification and application of Stages of Change Model to treatment planning, counseling, or other counseling interactions.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify and apply Stages of Change Model to treatment planning, counseling, or other counseling interactions above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify and apply Stages of Change Model to treatment planning, counseling, or other counseling interactions consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify and apply Stages of Change Model to treatment planning, counseling, or other counseling interactions consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to identify and apply Stages of Change Model to treatment planning, counseling, or other counseling interactions consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Level of Care: Ability to identify client's appropriate level of care and then provide treatmentor to refer client for appropriate level of care
 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify client's appropriate level of care and to then provide treatmentor to refer client to appropriate level of careabove expected CIT proficiency/development level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify client's appropriate level of care and to then provide treatmentor to refer client to appropriate level of careconsistent with expected CiT proficiency/development level
O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays ability to identify client's appropriate level of care and to then provide treatment—or to refer client to appropriate level of care—consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/development level
O 1: Does Not Meet Expectations—Displays insufficient ability to identify client's appropriate level of care and to then provide treatment—or to refer client to appropriate level of care—consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/development level
O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Theoretical Orientation: Ability to conceptualize and intentionally apply evidence-based counseling model(s) across diverse client populations
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to conceptualize and intentionally apply evidence-based counseling model(s) above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to conceptualize and intentionally apply evidence-based counseling model(s) consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to conceptualize and intentionally apply evidence-based counseling model(s) consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet Expectations-Displays insufficient ability to conceptualize and intentionally apply evidence-based counseling model(s) consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess

Case Formulation: Ability to use clinical interview data and evidence-based counseling theory to formulate theoretically consistent case conceptualization
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to use clinical interview data and evidence-based counseling theory to formulate a theoretically consistent case conceptualization above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to use clinical interview data and evidence-based counseling theory to formulate a theoretically consistent case conceptualization aligned with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to use clinical interview data and evidence-based counseling theory to formulate a theoretically consistent case conceptualization aligned with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use clinical interview data and evidence-based counseling theory to formulate a theoretically consistent case conceptualization aligned with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
In the space below, please provide specific feedback regarding the CIT's abilities pertaining to "Counseling Case Conceptualization Skills."
Summative Narrative Feedback: In the space below, please list your CIT's strengths.
Summative Narrative Feedback: In the space below, please list your CIT's areas for growth.
Signature
Date:

I⊆ Form Details



Supervision Assist

ASSESSMENT CATEGORY

Self (Trainee)

SUBMITTER ROLE

Trainee - YOUR CURRENT ROLE IS COORDINATOR

REVIEWER ROLES

Trainee, Supervisor, Faculty Supervisor, Coordinator

Hide Preview

This is a preview. Only a trainee can submit this form.

CMHC -	Student	Self-Assessment
--------	---------	-----------------

Student Self-Assessment (CMHC)

Your Name:

Your Course:

O COUN 601: CMHC Practicum

O COUN 607: CMHC Internship I

O COUN 608; CMHC Internship II

Current Clinical Placement Site(s):

Self-Assessment Time Frame (e.g., FA 2024):

Assessment Type:

O Mid-Semester

O End-of-Semester

Directions: Please rate "the CIT" (i.e., yourself) on a series of attributes comprising the following three categories: Counseling Skills and the Therapeutic Alliance; Professional Counseling and Personal Dispositions; and Case Conceptualization and Treatment Planning.

For every attribute, the rating scale ranges from "4" to "1." A rating of "4" indicates the CIT exceeds expectations, while a rating of "1" indicates the CIT does not meet expectations. The rating system also includes an option indicating the attribute does not apply to the CIT's work--or the evaluator did not observe the CIT demonstrate the attribute. Space for detailed, specific comments follows each set of rating-scale items,

- 4--Exceeds Expectations: The CIT displays the described counseling knowledge, skills(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s) in a manner that is clearly and consistently above the expected CIT proficiency/developmental level,
- 3--Meets Expectations: The CIT displays the described counseling knowledge, skill(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s) in a manner that consistently meets the expected CIT proficiency/developmental level.

2--Minimally Meets Expectations: The CIT displays the described counseling knowledge, skill(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s) in a manner that minimally meets the expected CIT proficiency/developmental level. 1--Does Not Meet Expectations: The CIT displays insufficient ability relative to the described counseling knowledge, skill(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s); ability does not meet the minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level. 0--Not Applicable/Observed: The evaluator did not observe the CIT demonstrating the described attribute; or, the attribute was not applicable. Counseling Skills and the Therapeutic Alliance The next 11 items ask you to rate and provide written feedback about your competencies pertaining to "Counseling Skills and the Therapeutic Alliance." Nonverbal Skills: Use of body position/affect, eye contact, use of silence to engage client/build the therapeutic alliance O 4: Exceeds Expectations--Displays ability to utilize nonverbal skills to develop quality working alliance, facilitate dialogue, and create safe counseling setting for client/student that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 3: Meets Expectations---Displays ability to utilize nonverbal skills to develop quality working alliance, facilitate dialogue, and create safe counseling setting for client/student consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations--Displays minimally acceptable ability to utilize nonverbal skills to develop quality working alliance, facilitate dialogue and create safe counseling setting for client/student consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 1: Does Not Meet Expectations--Displays insufficient ability to utilize nonverbal skills to develop quality working alliance, facilitate dialogue, and create safe counseling setting for client/student outcomes consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 0: Not Applicable/Observed---Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess Use of Minimal Encouragers: Use of minimal verbal/nonverbal encouragers to engage client/build the therapeutic alliance O 4: Exceeds Expectations--Displays ability to use verbal and/or nonverbal encouragers to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes that are clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 3: Meets Expectations---Displays ability to use verbal and/or nonverbal encouragers to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling /student outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations--Displays minimally acceptable ability to use verbal and/or nonverbal encouragers to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental O 1: Does Not Meet Expectations--Displays insufficient ability to use verbal and /or nonverbal encouragers to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling /student outcomes consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess Open- and Closed-Ended Questions: Use of open- and closed-ended questions O 4: Exceeds Expectations--Displays ability to use open- and closed-ended questions to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes that are clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 3: Meets Expectations--Displays ability to use open- and closed-ended questions to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level

2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays minimally acceptable ability to use open—and closed-ended questions to facilitate dialogue, clarify content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/develop level					
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use open- and closed-ended questions to facilitate dialogue, cl content, and facilitate positive counseling/student outcomes consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental le	arify :vel				
O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess					
araphrasing/Reflection of Content: Use of paraphrasing/reflection of content					
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to accurately interpret and reflect content of a client's/student's statement/story that clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	ı is				
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to accurately interpret and reflect content of client/student statement/story consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level					
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to accurately interpret and reflect content of client/student statement/story consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level					
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to accurately interpret and reflect content of client/student statement/story consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level					
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess					
eflection of Feeling: Use of reflection of feelings					
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to accurately identify and reflect emotional content with a client/student that is clear and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	rly				
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to accurately identify and reflect emotional content with a client/student consistent wi expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	th				
O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays minimally acceptable ability to accurately identify and reflect emotional content will client/student consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	ith a				
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to accurately identify and reflect emotional content with a client/student consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level					
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess					
ummarizing: Use of summarization to identify/clarify key themes					
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to use summarization skill to clarify/identify key elements/themes in client/student narratives that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level					
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to use summarization skill to clarify /identify key elements/themes in client/student narratives consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level					
2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to use summarization skill to clarify/identify key elements/themes in client/student narratives consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level					
1: Does Not Meet Expectations: Displays insufficient ability to use summarization skill to clarify/identify key elements/themes client/student narratives consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency developmental level	in				
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess	~				
Confrontation: Use of confrontation to challenge and assess discrepancies					
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to use skill of confrontation to challenge and assess discrepancies that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level	d				

 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to use skill of confrontation to challenge and assess discrepancies consistent with expected CiT proficiency/developmental level 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use of skill of confrontation to challenge and assess discrepancies consistent with minimally expected CiT proficiency/developmental level 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
Ω. Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Focusing: Use of focusing skills to facilitate development or clarification of client/student issue(s)
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to use focusing skills to facilitate development or clarification of client/student issues(s) that are clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to use focusing skills to facilitate development or clarification of client/student issue(s) consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to use focusing skills to facilitate development or clarification of client/student issue(s) consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
① 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use focusing skills to facilitate development or clarification of client/student issue(s) consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Empathy, non-judgmental attitude, and unconditional positive regard: Use of empathy, non-judgmental attitude, and unconditional positive regard to foster positive alliance and counseling outcomes O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays use of empathy, non-judgmental attitude and unconditional positive regard to foster positive alliance and counseling outcomes that is clearly and consistently above the expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays use of empathy, non-judgmental attitude and unconditional positive regard to foster positive alliance and counseling outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable use of empathy, non-judgmental attitude and unconditional positive regard to foster positive alliance and counseling outcomes consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use empathy, non-judgmental attitude and unconditional positive regard to foster positive alliance and counseling outcomes consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Therapeutic Working Alliance (Bordin, 1979): Development and maintenance of quality Therapeutic Working Alliance
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to develop and maintain a quality therapeutic alliance that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to develop and maintain a quality therapeutic alliance consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays minimally acceptable ability to develop and maintain a quality therapeutic alliance consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to develop and maintain a quality therapeutic alliance consistent with minimally expected CiT proficiency/developmental level
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess

In the space below, please provide specific feedback about your abilities pertaining to "Counseling Skills and the Therapeutic Alliance." Professional Counseling and Personal Dispositions				
thical Behavior: Behavior and decision making that aligns with ACA, ASCA, and NBCC ethical guidelines				
4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ethical behavior and decision-making that is clearly and consistently above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
O 3: Meets Expectations—Displays ethical behavior and decision-making consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ethical behavior and decision-making consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ethical behavior and decision-making consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level 				
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess				
Professionalism/Behavior: Behavior toward instructors, supervisors, peers, and clients (and others)				
4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays behavior toward instructors, supervisors, peers, clients, and others that is clearly and consistently well-above the expected current ethical standards and professional expectations of the Counseling Program, the site, and the profession				
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays behavior toward instructors, supervisors, peers, clients, and others that is consistent with the current ethical standards and professional expectations of the Counseling Program, the site, and the profession 				
 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays behavior toward instructors, supervisors, peers, clients, and others that minimally meets the current ethical standards and professional expectations of the Counseling Program, the site, and the profession 				
 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays behavior toward instructors, supervisors, peers, clients, and others that does not meet the current ethical standards and professional expectations of the Counseling Program, the site, and the profession 				
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess				
Professional and Personal Boundaries				
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays personal and professional boundaries with instructors, supervisors, peers, clients/students, and all others that clearly and consistently exceed expected CIT behavior				
 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays personal and professional boundaries with instructors, supervisors, peers, clients/students, and all others that are consistent with expected CIT behavior 				
 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays personal and professional boundaries with instructors, supervisors, peers, clients/students, and all others that are minimally consistent with expected CIT behavior 				
1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays personal and professional boundaries with instructors, supervisors, peers, clients/students, and all others that are inconsistent with minimally expected CIT behavior				

○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity observe and/or assess
Site and Course Policies: Knowledge and behaviors concerning course, program, and/or site policies
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsAlways displays knowledge of course, program, and/or site policies; always behaves in manner consistent with course, program, and/or site policies
O 3: Meets Expectations—Displays knowledge of course, program, and/or site policies, and behaves in manner consistent with all course, program, and/or site policies.
O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays minimally appropriate knowledge of course, program, and/or site policies, and behaves in a manner consistent with some course, program, and/or site policies
O 1: Does Not Meet Expectations: Displays insufficient knowledge of course, program, and/or site policies, and behaves in a manner that is inconsistent with course, program, and/or site policies
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Documentation: Completes required course and/or site documentation on time and according to stated course and/or site guidelines
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsAlways completes required course and/or site documentation on time and according to stated guidelines, above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsCompletes required course and/or site documentation on time and according to stated guidelines, consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Completes course and/or site documentation on time, according to stated guidelines, and is minimally consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDoes not/insufficiently complete(s) required documentation on time and according to stated guidelines, in a manner that is inconsistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Multicultural Competence/Humility: Awareness and ability to show respect/humility with and across diverse client/student settings and populations
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays multicultural competence/humility with and across diverse client/student settings and populations above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 3: Meets Expectations—Displays multicultural competence/humility with and across diverse client/student settings and populations consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays multicultural competence/humility with and across diverse client/student settings and populations consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays multicultural competence/humility with and across diverse client/school settings and populations that is inconsistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Emotional Stability/Regulation: Emotional maturity and stability.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays emotional maturity and ability to self-regulate emotions with peers, instructors, supervisors, and others above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays emotional maturity and ability to self-regulate emotions with peers, instructors, supervisors, and

 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays emotional maturity and ability to self-regulate emotions with peers, instructors, supervisors, and others that is consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 1: Does Not Meet Expectations—Displays emotional maturity and ability to self-regulate emotions with peers, instructors, supervisors, and others that is inconsistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O : Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Personal and Professional Growth: Engagement and initiative regarding personal growth and professional development.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays engagement and initiative toward personal growth and professional development above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays engagement and initiative toward personal growth and professional development consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays engagement and initiative toward personal growth and professional development that is consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays engagement and initiative toward personal growth and professional development that is inconsistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Feedback: Willingness to seek out, provide, respond to, and integrate feedback from peers, instructors, supervisors, and clients in a strength-based, professional manner.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to seek out, provide, receive and integrate feedback from peers, instructors, supervisors, and clients in a strength-based, professional manner above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to seek out, provide, receive and/or integrate feedback from peers, instructors, supervisors, and/or clients in a strength-based, professional manner consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays ability to seek out, provide, receive and/or integrate feedback from peers, instructors, supervisors, and/or clients in a strength-based, professional manner that is consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
① 1: Does Not Meet Expectations—Displays ability to seek out, provide, receive and/or integrate feedback from peers, instructors, supervisors, and clients in a strength-based, professional manner that is inconsistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Adaptableness: Ability to respond/adapt to relational, environmental, and/or procedural changes in classroom and/or clinical/school settings.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to effectively respond/adapt to relational, environmental, and/or procedural changes in classroom and/or clinical/school settings above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets Expectations—Displays ability to effectively respond/adapt to relational, environmental, and/or procedural changes in classroom and/or clinical/school settings consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to effectively respond/adapt to relational, environmental, and/or procedural changes in classroom and/or clinical/school settings consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet Expectations—Displays insufficient ability to effectively respond/adapt to relational, environmental, and/or procedural changes in classroom and/or clinical/school settings in a manner that is consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess

Genuineness: Non-judgmental acceptance of self and others.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to be accepting of self and others in personal and/or professional settings above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
3: Meets Expectations—Displays ability to be accepting of self and others in personal and/or professional settings consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays ability to be accepting of self and others in personal and/or professional settings consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to be accepting of self and others in personal and/or professional settings consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Personal Wellness: Openness to and engagement in advocating for the holistic wellness of self, clients, and others.
O 4: Exceeds Expectations—Displays openness to and engagement in advocating for the holistic wellness of self, clients, and others above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays openness to and engagement in advocating for the holistic wellness of self, clients, and others consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays openness to and engagement in advocating for the holistic wellness of self, clients, and others that is consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet Expectations—Displays openness to and engagement in advocating for the holistic wellness of self, clients, and others that is inconsistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
In the space below, please provide specific feedback about your abilities pertaining to "Professional Counseling and Personal Dispositions."
Case Conceptualization and Treatment Planning
The next 10 items ask you to rate and provide written feedback about your abilities pertaining to "Case Conceptualization and Treatment Planning."
Clinical Interview/Intake: Use of Clinical Interview/Intake to gather information necessary for a formulation of a diagnostic impression.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to conduct an effective clinical intake/interview necessary to formulate a diagnostic impression above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to conduct an effective clinical intake/interview necessary to formulate a diagnostic impression consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to conduct an effective clinical intake/interview necessary to formulate a diagnostic impression consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
① 1: Does Not Meet Expectations—Displays insufficient ability to conduct an effective clinical intake/interview necessary to formulate a diagnostic impression consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level

O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Diagnostic Impression: Use of current DSM to formulate accurate diagnostic impression.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to use current DSM to formulate clinically accurate diagnostic impression above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to use current DSM to formulate clinically accurate diagnostic impression consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays ability to use current DSM to formulate clinically accurate diagnostic impression consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use current DSM to formulate clinically accurate diagnostic impression consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
S.M.A.R.T. Goals: Collaborative design, use, and assessment of S.M.A.R.T. goals.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to engage in the collaborative design, use, and assessment S.M.A.R.T goals above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to engage in the collaborative design, use, and assessment of S.M.A.R.T goals consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to engage in the collaborative design, use, and assessment of S.M.A.R.T goals consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to engage in the collaborative design, use, and assessment of S.M.A.R.T goals consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
○ 0: Not applicable of no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Dutcome Measures: Creation of collaborative and measurable treatment goals/objectives that align with established S.M.A.R.T. goals.
4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to create collaborative and measurable treatment goals/objectives that align with established S.M.A.R.T. goals above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to create collaborative and measurable treatment goals/objectives that align with established S.M.A.R.T. goals consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays ability to create collaborative and measurable treatment goals/objectives that align with established S.M.A.R.T. goals consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
1: Does Not Meet Expectations—Displays insufficient ability to create collaborative and measurable treatment goals/objectives that align with established S.M.A.R.T. goals consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
○ 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess
Evidence-Based Strategies: Identification and use of evidence-based counseling in treatment planning and counseling sessions.
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify and use evidence-based counseling strategies in treatment planning and direct client care above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level
O 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify and use evidence-based counseling strategies in treatment planning and direct

 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify and use evidence-based counseling strategies consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level 					
O w	1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to identify and use evidence-based counseling strategies consistent Ith minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
0	0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess				
	es of Change: Accurate identification and application of Stages of Change Model to treatment planning, counseling, ther counseling interactions.				
ot	9 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify and apply Stages of Change Model to treatment planning, counseling, or her counseling interactions above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
0) 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify and apply Stages of Change Model to treatment planning, counseling, or other ounseling interactions consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
CC) 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify and apply Stages of Change Model to treatment planning, ounseling, or other counseling interactions consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
C) 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to identify and apply Stages of Change Model to treatment planning, ounseling, or other counseling interactions consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
С	0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess				
appr C cl	el of Care: Ability to identify client's appropriate level of care and then provide treatmentor to refer client for ropriate level of care 1 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify client's appropriate level of care and to then provide treatmentor to refer ient to appropriate level of careabove expected CIT proficiency/development level				
\sim	3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify client's appropriate level of care and to then provide treatmentor to refer ient to appropriate level of careconsistent with expected CIT proficiency/development level				
\mathcal{C}	2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to identify client's appropriate level of care and to then provide treatmentor to after client to appropriate level of care consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/development level				
c) 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to identify client's appropriate level of care and to then provide eatmentor to refer client to appropriate level of care consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/development level				
C) 0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess				
	oretical Orientation: Ability to conceptualize and intentionally apply evidence-based counseling model(s) across rrse client populations				
e:) 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to conceptualize and intentionally apply evidence-based counseling model(s) above xpected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
W) 3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to conceptualize and intentionally apply evidence-based counseling model(s) consistent vith expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
О) 2: Minimally Meets ExpectationsDisplays minimally acceptable ability to conceptualize and intentionally apply evidence-based ounseling model(s) consistent with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
C) 1: Does Not Meet Expectations-Displays insufficient ability to conceptualize and intentionally apply evidence-based counseling nodel(s) consistent with minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
C	0: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess				

Case Formulation: Ability to use clinical interview data and evidence-based counseling theory to formulate theoretically consistent case conceptualization				
O 4: Exceeds ExpectationsDisplays ability to use clinical interview data and evidence-based counseling theory to formulate a theoretically consistent case conceptualization above expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
3: Meets ExpectationsDisplays ability to use clinical interview data and evidence-based counseling theory to formulate a theoretically consistent case conceptualization aligned with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
O 2: Minimally Meets Expectations—Displays minimally acceptable ability to use clinical interview data and evidence-based counseling theory to formulate a theoretically consistent case conceptualization aligned with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
O 1: Does Not Meet ExpectationsDisplays insufficient ability to use clinical interview data and evidence-based counseling theory to formulate a theoretically consistent case conceptualization aligned with expected CIT proficiency/developmental level				
O: Not applicable or no opportunity to observe and/or assess				
In the space below, please provide specific feedback regarding your abilities pertaining to "Counseling Case Conceptualization Skills."				
Summative Narrative Feedback: In the space below, please list your strengths.				
Summative Narrative Feedback: In the space below, please list your areas for growth.				
Signature				
Date:				

E Form Details

X

Supervision Assist

ASSESSMENT CATEGORY

Supervisor

SUBMITTER ROLE

Trainee - YOUR CURRENT ROLE IS COORDINATOR

REVIEWER ROLES

Trainee, Coordinator, Faculty Supervisor

Hide Preview

1 This is a preview. Only a trainee can submit this form.

CMHC - Student Evaluation of Practicum-Internship Site Supervisor

Student Evaluation of Practicum/Internship Site Supervisor						
Please complete the "Student Evaluation of Practicum/Internship Site Supervisor." Your input will be used by Counseling Program faculty as they consider appropriate placements for Practicum/Internship students.						
First Name, Last Name, and Middle Initial:						
Current Semester (e.g., FA 2024):						
Course Number:						
O COUN 601: CMHC Practicum						
O COUN 602: SC Practicum & Behavioral Strategies						
O COUN 603: SC Internship I						
O COUN 604: SC Internship II						
O COUN 607: CMHC Internship I						
○ COUN 608: CMHC Internship II						
Practicum/Internship Site:						
Practicum/Internship Site Supervisor's First and Last Name:						
Evaluation						

Please respond to each of the following 13 statements using this scale:4--Exceeds Expectations: The CIT displays the described counseling knowledge, skills(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s) in a manner that is clearly and consistently above the expected CIT proficiency/developmental level.3---Meets Expectations: The CIT displays the

described counseling knowledge, skill(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s) in a manner that consistently meets the expected CIT proficiency/developmental level. 2--Minimally Meets Expectations: The CIT displays the described counseling knowledge, skill(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s) in a manner that minimally meets the expected CIT proficiency/developmental level.1--Does Not Meet Expectations: The CIT displays insufficient ability relative to the described counseling knowledge, skill(s), and/or professional/personal disposition(s); ability does not meet the minimally expected CIT proficiency/developmental level. 0--Not Applicable/Observed: The evaluator did not observe the CIT demonstrating the described attribute; or, the attribute was not applicable.

	EXCEED EXPECTATIONS	MEETS EXPECTATIONS	MINIMALLY MEETS EXPECTATIONS	DOES NOT MEET EXPECTATIONS	UNABLE TO ASSESS/NOT APPLICABLE
My site supervisor oriented me well and was responsive to questions about site policies, expected behaviors, documentation, and crisis intervention policies.	aguarriane estilisteach do statur-de	CO		O	0
My site supervisor collaborated with me on a supervision plan for this semester.	0	0	0	Ο	0
My site supervisor provided consistent formative evaluation that facilitated my personal and professional development.	0	0	0	0	0
My site supervisor provided a mid-term and final evaluation of my work/development that was helpful to my personal and professional development.	0	Ο	0	0	Ο
My site supervisor met with me face-to-face to process my mid-term and final evaluations.	0	0	Ο	0	0
My site supervisor met and/or otherwise communicated with me in a timely manner when I requested it.	0	0	0	0	0
My site supervisor provided one-hour of weekly face-to face individual/triadic supervision	0	0	0	0	0
My site supervisor assisted me in clarifying and developing/applying my own core theoretical orientation.	0	0	0	0	0
My site supervisor was helpful in expanding my case conceptualization abilities (e.g., theory, alliance, interventions, stages of change, diversity, ethics, etc.).	0	0	0	0	0
My site supervisor modeled professionalism.	0	0	Ο	0	0
My site supervisor provided a supportive and challenging environment where I felt safe to address my strengths and challenges.	0	0	0	0	Ο
My site supervisor facilitated my development as an ethical, reflective practitioner.	0	0	0	0	0
l felt confident in my site supervisor's professional knowledge and clinical skills.	0	0	0	0	0

l believe it is important for the Stephens College Counseling Program faculty to know about the following positive aspects and challenges associated with this site supervisor.
Signature
Date:

■ Form Details

1

Supervision Assist

ASSESSMENT CATEGORY

Faculty Supervisor

SUBMITTER ROLE

Trainee — YOUR CURRENT ROLE IS COORDINATOR

REVIEWER ROLES

Trainee, Coordinator

N Hide Preview

1 This is a preview. Only a trainee can submit this form.

CMHC - Student Evaluation of Practicum-Internship Instructor

Student Evaluation of Practicum/Internship Course Instructor
Please complete the "Student Evaluation of Practicum/Internship Course Instructor." Your input will be used by Counseling Program faculty as they consider appropriate placements for Practicum/Internship students.
First Name, Last Name, and Middle Initial:
Current Semester (e.g., FA 2024):
Course Number:
O COUN 601: CMHC Practicum
O COUN 602: SC Practicum & Behavioral Strategies
O COUN 603: SC Internship I
○ COUN 604: SC Internship II
O COUN 607: CMHC Internship I
O COUN 608: CMHC Internship II
Practicum/Internship Site:
Course Instructor's First and Last Name:
Evaluation

Please respond to each of the following 8 statements using this scale: 4 - Exceeds Expectations; 3 - Meets Expectations; 2 - Minimally Meets Expectations; 1 - Does Not Meet Expectations; 0 - Unable to Assess/Not Applicable.

	EXCEED EXPECTATIONS	MEETS EXPECTATIONS	MINIMALLY MEETS EXPECTATIONS	DOES NOT MEET	UNABLE TO ASSESS/NOT APPLICABLE
My instructor met and/or communicated with me in a timely manner when I requested it.	0	0	0	0	0
My instructor helped me identify and work on appropriate learning goals.	0	0	0	0	0
My instructor was prompt and prepared for weekly classes.	0	0	0	0	0
My instructor assisted me in clarifying and developing/applying my own theoretical orientation.	0	0	0	0	0
My instructor helped facilitate my case conceptualization skills/development (e.g., theory, alliance, interventions, stages of change, diversity, ethics, etc.).	0	0	0	0	0
My instructor created and maintained a safe/ethical/challenging learning environment.	0	0	0	0	0
My instructor was open to feedback from students.	0	0	0	0	0
My instructor's content knowledge and clinical skills facilitated my personal and professional development.	0	0	0	0	0
I believe it is important for the Stephens College Counseling Program faculty to know about the following positive aspects and challenges associated with this course instructor. Signature					
Date:					

■ Form Details



Supervision Assist

ASSESSMENT CATEGORY

Supervision Site

SUBMITTER ROLE

Trainee - Your current role is coordinator

REVIEWER ROLES

Trainee, Supervisor, Faculty Supervisor, Coordinator

Hide Preview

This is a preview. Only a trainee can submit this form.

CMHC - Student Evaluation of Practicum-Internship Site

Student Evaluation of Practicum/Internship Site					
Please complete the "Student Evaluation of Practicum/Internship Site." Your input will be used by Counseling Program faculty as they consider appropriate placements for Practicum/Internship students.					
First Name, Last Name, and Middle Initial:					
Current Semester (e.g., FA 2024):					
Course Number:					
O COUN 601; CMHC Practicum					
O COUN 602: SC Practicum & Behavioral Strategies					
O COUN 603: SC Internship I					
O COUN 604: SC Internship II					
O COUN 607: CMHC Internship I					
O COUN 608: CMHC Internship II					
Practicum/Internship Site:					
Practicum/Internship Site Supervisor's First and Last Name:					
As a programmer, and representation of the state of the s					

Evaluation

Please respond to each of the following 15 statements using this scale: 4 - Exceeds Expectations; 3 - Meets Expectations; 2 - Minimally Meets Expectations; 1 - Does Not Meet Expectations; 0 - Unable to Assess/Not Applicable.

	4 -EXCEED EXPECTATIONS	3 - MEETS EXPECTATIONS	2 - MINIMALLY MEETS EXPECTATIONS	1 - DOES NOT MEET EXPECTATIONS	0 - UNABLE TO ASSESS/NOT APPLICABLE
I received formal orientation at my site regarding site policies and procedures.	Compared and special and an experience of the special and an exper		ontervenesses in the contract of the contract	0	0
I was provided initial and ongoing assistance/training surrounding site policies and procedures and the expectations and parameters of my role, responsibilities, and opportunities on site.	0	0	0	O	. O
I was provided reasonable physical space to provide counseling with appropriate confidentiality.	0	0	О	0	0
I was provided the technology necessary to provide effective telehealth when/if necessary	0	0	. 0	0	0
I was regularly assigned clients (or allowed to recruit clients) at this site and allowed to develop an appropriate caseload.	0	0	0	· O	0
I had the opportunity to gain the direct hours necessary to complete my direct-hours requirements.	0	0	0	0	. 0
I had opportunities to act as leader and/or coleader for group counseling.	0	Ο	0	0	0
This site supported and facilitated opportunities for me to video/audio record my session in accordance with my Internship course requirements.	Ο	0	0	0	0
I was treated with professional respect by all staff members at this site.	Ο	0	0	0	0
I was provided opportunities to develop my documentation/administrative skills.	0	0	0	0	0
I received at least one hour of individual/triadic clinical supervision on-site, each week, from my approved site supervisor.	0	0	0	0	. 0
I felt supported in my clinical decision-making.	, 0	0	0	0	0
This site provided me with opportunities to work with and improve my knowledge and counseling skills with persons from diverse backgrounds.	0	0	0	0	0
This site allowed me to grow personally and professionally.	0	0	0	0	0
This is an appropriate site for future practicum/internship students.	0	0	0	0	· O
I believe it is important for the Stephens C aspects and challenges associated with th		ing Program fac	culty to know abo	out the following) positive
Signature					

D-1	
Date:	
	AND THE RESIDENCE OF THE PARTY

E Form Details



Supervision Assist

ASSESSMENT CATEGORY



SUBMITTER ROLES

Supervisor, Faculty Supervisor $\,-\,$ Your current role is coordinator

REVIEWER ROLES

Supervisor, Coordinator, Trainee, Faculty Supervisor

N Hide Preview

This is a preview. Only a supervisor and faculty supervisor can submit this form.

Live Supervision Ass	sessment (v1 Sp24)
Live Supervision Assessment	

Live Supervision Assessment
Student:
Site:
Client:
Session #:
Type of Service:
Please provide detailed feedback on the following areas:
Student's ability to create a safe therapeutic setting,
Student's ability to develop & sustain a quality therapeutic alliance.
Student's use of counseling skills (micro skills).
Student's knowledge/use of evidence-based theory in session.
Student's knowledge/use of evidence-based interventions in session.

Student's ability to conceptualize session.
Student's proficiency in conceptualizing an appropriate diagnostic impression (DSM-5) based on client presentation. (Note: Required for CMHC students; Preferred for SC students)
Student's proficiency in goal/objective setting & overall treatment planning.
Student's use of self-disclosure.
Student Strengths:
Student Growth Areas:
Summary of Session:
I attest that I have reviewed the information contained in this document with the above signed student and have provided a hard copy of the document for the student to review, respond to, and provide to their course instructor.
Site Supervisor
Date:



Counseling Program

Supplemental Assessment

Name of Evaluator:			
Date:			
Evaluator's Organization:			
Position of Evaluator:			
Student Evaluated:			
Time Period:			
Please provide a detailed des performance, ethical/legal co	cription of the reaso ncerns).	ns for this assessm	ent below (e.g., disposition,
<u>Attestation</u>			
Site Supervisor		Date	
•			•
Course Instructor		Date	
Student*		Date	
*Student has the right to su instructor, and clinical coord	omit a written respo linator.	nse to this evaluat	ion to the site supervisor, course

Stephens College Counseling Program

Practicum & Internship Placement Process Survey

The Counseling program utilizes the information gained from the **Practicum and Internship Placement Process Survey** as part of the program's Comprehensive Assessment Plan. Information and insights from the survey are used for program development and improvement.

Practicum & Internship Process	Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
The Practicum Orientation Meeting was				
helpful in understand the key policies,				
procedures, and expectations for my				
practicum/internship course experiences.				
The program provided helpful and				
accessible information regarding	1			
potential practicum/internship sites.				
The program provided clear expectations				
regarding my role as a student in				
identifying and securing a				
practicum/internship site.				
The program provided clear information				
about the process for accessing,				
completing, and submitting all				
practicum/internship related		•		
documentation.				
I am comfortable with the level of				
support and guidance I received from				
faculty during my practicum and				
internship experience.				
I was provided the opportunity to				
effectively evaluate my practicum/				
internship site supervisor(s),				
practicum/internship site(s), and	1			
practicum/internship site course				
instructor/faculty supervisor each				
semester.	<u> </u>			

In the space below, please provide additional information you feel could be helpful concerning the program's practicum/internship placement process.